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Principal financial results
(billion roubles unless otherwise specified)

2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Net revenues 405.9 268.2 81.7 53.6 44.0

Operating profit 119.0 48.9 5.0 5.2 5.0

Income before taxation 112.6 40.3 2.0 4.2 4.7

Net income 96.4 30.8 0.1 1.8 3.8

Capital expenditure and investments 64.2 31.2 18.2 10.6 8.6

Total assets at year end 338.1 227.4 136.5 84.6 69.3

Dividend per common share, roubles 8.00 3.00 0.25 0.22 0.30

Dividend per preference share, roubles 59.16 17.45 2.67 0.91 1.00

Total dividends 10.6 3.6 0.4 0.2 0.3

Principal operating indicators

2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Oil production, million tonnes 77.7 75.6 64.2 62.3 58.5

Natural gas production, billion cubic metres 5.0 4.7 3.7 3.3 3.0

Primary refining, million tonnes 32.2 29.0 17.9 18.9 19.3

Petroleum product output, million tonnes 30.6 27.6 17.1 17.9 18.3

Number of gasoline filling stations, thousand 2.6 1.0 0.9 0.7 0.6

Petrochemical products, million tonnes 1.1 0.6 0.1 – –

Number of oil wells at year end, thousand 27.2 26.0 22.6 23.9 23.2

Producing oil wells as a percentage of total wells 84.0 81.5 82.8 81.5 82.5

Drilling, thousand km 1.9 1.1 0.9 1.8 1.4
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Crude oil production reached an 
all-time high – 77.7 million tonnes, the
volume of refining amounted to 
32.2 million tonnes, and over 45 mil-
lion tonnes including processing at
third-party refineries.

A new oil and gas condensate field
was discovered in the Northern
Caspian, its oil and gas reserves esti-
mated at 450 million tonnes. 

Production growth rates of OAO
KomiTEK, which was incorporated in the
Company in 1999, amounted to 9%.
Modernisation and upgrading of the
Company’s refineries continued. 

LUKOIL acquired the Getty Petroleum
Marketing Inc. (U.S.) which sells
petroleum products through 1,260
gasoline filling stations in thirteen
northeastern U.S. states.

The output of petrochemical products
increased to 1.1 million tonnes. The
ZAO LUKOR joint venture was estab-
lished on the basis of the Ukrainian
Oriana petrochemical concern.

The linear section of the Caspian
Pipeline Consortium’s (CPC) pipeline
was completed. Two reinforced ice-
breaking tankers were added to
LUKOIL’s fleet in 2000.

LUKOIL achieved its best-ever finan-
cial results with net income of 96 bil-
lion roubles (over $3 billion) in 2000.

Highlights of 2000



The year 2000 was marked by
LUKOIL’s most impressive production
and financial performance ever
recorded in its history. Oil production
and refining volumes reached all-time
highs, and so did the Company’s net
revenues and net income figures. 
The increase in earnings per share is a
particularly important indicator. In
2000, it exceeded 124 roubles as com-
pared with three roubles in 1995.

As a result, the amount of dividend
payments increased over 65 times,
totaling 10.6 billion roubles in 2000. 
At the same time, the past year saw
a seven-fold gap, which cannot readi-
ly be justified both from the stand-
point of world practice and plain com-
mon sense, between the levels of
dividend payments on common and
preference shares. Obviously the situ-
ation has to be amended through the
preference share conversion, so that
the current holders of both classes of
share enjoy equal rights. 
Transition to international accounting
standards in 2000 was LUKOIL’s
major corporate achievement.
Compiled in accordance with the
new standards and published in
December 2000, the financial results
of the Company’s operation as for
1998-1999 showed a rise in net
income, which continued into the
year 2000.
Transition to new accounting stan-
dards allowed the Company to reach a
higher level of financial transparency
and disclosure of corporate informa-
tion to shareholders.
This trend should be continued and
reflected in the Company’s corporate
governance code.
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The basic principles of the corporate
governance code should reflect the
Company’s commitment to:
• observing international standards of
financial transparency and information
disclosure;
• maintaining Russian and internation-
al standards for protecting sharehold-
ers’ rights and guaranteeing them
equal access to information;
• observing professional business
ethics and integrating the best models
of corporate governance practice into
its activities;
• adhering to the principles of fair
competition in respect of business
rivals on the market;
• ensuring that its officers and direc-
tors fully meet their obligations to the
shareholders;
• timely restructuring the Company
with a view to bringing its production
and management practices in line with
the changes in the business environ-
ment;
• ensuring environmental protection,
raising the level of the employees’
social benefits and labour safety, and
taking an active part in educational and
charitable programmes.
In line with the basic principles adopt-
ed by the Company, the Board of
Directors should be given a bigger say
in pursuing strategic objectives and
upholding shareholders’ rights. To this
end, it is expedient to nominate inde-
pendent directors for the Board of

Directors and allow the Board to exer-
cise its right to form committees and
commissions comprised of its mem-
bers and other Company employees in
order to conduct an in-depth study of
the key aspects of the Company’s
activities, and review and draft propos-
als regarding the settlement of specif-
ic issues. The Board of Directors’
committees shall operate in accord-
ance with special regulations. The
Board of Directors shall hear the com-
mittees’ and commissions’ reports at
its sessions and take appropriate
action on them. 
I am certain that the corporate gover-
nance code will mark another stride
toward harmonising the Company’s
and its shareholders’ interests which,
in turn, will become a springboard for
attaining the Company’s major strate-
gic objectives – larger-scale operations
and higher economic efficiency and
profitability.

Valery GRAIFER,
Chairman of the 

Board of Directors,

LUKOIL
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The year 2000 highlighted some posi-
tive results of LUKOIL’s first decade in
business.
First of all, it was the year of the
Company’s peak achievements, with
the LUKOIL Group’s oil production ris-
ing to 77.7 million tonnes, its own
refineries’ throughput exceeding 32
million tonnes, its consolidated net
revenues amounting to 406 billion rou-
bles, and net income amounting to
over 96 billion roubles.

Second, LUKOIL mapped out a clear-
cut strategy for developing new oil-
bearing provinces, introducing new
production technologies, carrying out
international projects, expanding its
petrochemical production capacities,
adding to its tanker fleet, and improv-
ing corporate governance.
In the light of our strategic objec-
tives, even the Company’s major suc-
cesses achieved in 2000 are just a
new step toward still more ambitious
goals regarding production scale,
profit levels and corporate manage-
ment quality. We are not completely
satisfied with our performance. We
are least of all content with the
Company’s market capitalisation,
which is just 2.5 times higher than
our net income, while in case of
comparable public companies in the
same class as us, capitalisation is 5
to 10 times higher than profits, and
in case of leading companies, it is 15
to 20 times higher. 
Such a stock market undervaluation of
shares is characteristic of other
Russian oil companies as well.
We are going to tackle this problem
along with Russia, which has
embarked upon a path of economic
growth and the consolidation of state
power. The structural reforms now
under way in this country will
inevitably lead to a rise in the nation’s
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credit rating and enhance Russian
companies’ investment appeal.
LUKOIL and other Russian oil compa-
nies are the driving forces of eco-
nomic growth, and the greater our
success, the more positive impact
we will have on the national econo-
my, thus promoting growth of the
Company’s capitalisation.
Our investment policy is, first, distin-
guished by its scale and, second, 
aims at maintaining an optimal 
balance between short- and long-term
objectives. 
In 2000, the Company’s capital expen-
diture and investments exceeded 64
billion roubles, which was practically
double the level of 1999. We receive
no government subsidies. The
Company has the reputation of a cred-
itworthy borrower, and we finance our
new projects using both our own
funds and loans provided by Russian
or foreign banks.
We are fully aware that Russia and our
Company have common interests, and
we are prepared to make our positive
contribution to the national economy
by increasing production and sales vol-
umes and working to achieve a wide
range of production, financial, environ-
mental and social objectives.
The past turn-of-the-century year was
a good one for the Company. A lot
was achieved. The important thing is
that we have set the stage for further
progress. 

LUKOIL will be ten years old in 2001.
We started out as Russia’s first verti-
cally-integrated state-run concern,
which subsequently developed into
Russia’s largest oil company. We have
diversified our business and will pur-
sue this strategy in future. We now
have strong petrochemical business,
and a large tanker fleet. Next, we shall
work to increase natural gas produc-
tion and processing. We have started
to provide engineering and financial
services. The Company has been
operating within and outside Russia.
Over our decade in business, we have
become both a Russian and an inter-
national oil company – and plan to stay
that way. We aspire to be internation-
ally competitive, and we are confident
to achieve this objective.

Vagit ALEKPEROV,
President of LUKOIL
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OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION 

AND PRODUCTION
As of the end of
2000, LUKOIL’s

proved oil and gas
condensate reserves

were estimated at
14.2 billion barrels

(two billion tonnes), 
and its proved natural

gas reserves 
at 3.6 trillion cubic

feet (100 billion 
cubic metres). 
Oil production 
rose by 2.8% 

to 77.7 million
tonnes, and gas pro-

duction by 6.1% to
exceed 

5 billion cubic
metres. A large oil

and gas condensate
field was discovered

in the Severny
licensed section of

the Northern Caspian
and named after 

Yuri Korchagin. 

For the years ended 31 December, billion roubles 2000 1999 1998

Net revenues 101.0 70.6 24.9

Operating profit 28.8 22.1 3.7

Income before taxation 31.9 20.1 1.9

Net income 26.2 14.4 1.3

Capital expenditure and investments 43.6 16.6 10.2

Total assets (as of 31 December) 154.6 108.7 65.8
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Oil and gas reserves

Miller & Lents Ltd. (U.S.) estimated
LUKOIL’s proved oil and gas conden-
sate reserves at 14.243 billion barrels
(two billion tonnes) and its natural gas
reserves at 3.625 trillion cubic feet 
(100 billion cubic metres) as of 31
December 2000. 

LUKOIL has maintained its global lead
in proved oil reserves among public 
companies, and comes fourth in oil
and natural gas reserves. These esti-
mates do not include the hydrocarbon
reserves in the Northern Caspian and
Iraq.
On the whole, LUKOIL’s proved
reserves at current production levels
will last for 27 years. 
According to the Russian classifica-
tion, the residual recoverable oil
reserves of the ABC1 categories,
being on the book records of LUKOIL’s
subsidiaries and affiliated companies,
constituted an estimated 2.5 billion
tonnes as of 31 December 2000. The
ABC1-equivalent oil reserves being
developed offshore and outside Russia
are estimated at 1.24 billion tonnes. 

Western Siberia accounts for most of
the Company’s reserves (60%). 
A third of LUKOIL’s overall reserves is
located in European Russia. 
The Company’s foreign hydrocarbon
resources, primarily those in
Azerbaijan and Kazakhstan, are steadi-
ly gaining in importance. The volumes
of reserves in those regions of
LUKOIL’s activity will grow substantial-
ly following the construction of the rel-
evant transportation infrastructure –
above all, following the commissioning
of the first stage of the Caspian
pipeline in 2001.

Exploration and development

An improvement in the economic situ-
ation in 2000 made it possible to sub-
stantially increase the scale of geologi-
cal exploration work:
• prospecting and exploration drilling, 
by 35%;
• 2-D seismic survey, by 20%; 
• 3-D seismic survey, by more than
three times.
In 2000, exploration drilling was
increased by 35% to reach 360,000 m.
14,300 linear km of 2-D seismic sur-
vey and 1,900 sq km of 3-D seismic
survey was undertaken.
As a result of exploration drilling, 11
new fields were discovered in 2000,
including eight oil, two oil and gas
condensate and one natural gas field,
as well as 23 hydrocarbon deposits.
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The recoverable reserves of all the
newly-discovered fields in the C1+C2
categories amounted to over 30 mil-
lion tonnes of oil and over 20 billion
cubic metres of gas. Over the period
under review, 48.7 million tonnes of
oil, one million tonnes of condensate,
and 18.5 billion cubic metres of natu-
ral gas were added to recoverable
reserves.
On average, every metre drilled added
181 tonnes to the reserves.
In Western Siberia, 18 new oil deposits
were discovered, adding 27.3 million
tonnes of oil to our recoverable
reserves.

Newly discovered reserves replaced
63% of oil production, which is the
highest figure for the past few years.
Three oil fields – Mokhovskoye,
Tartinskoye and Shershnevskoye –
have been discovered in the Perm
Region, and another two, Verkhne-
Romanovskoye and Zapadno-
Romanovskoye, on OOO LUKOIL-
Nizhnevolzhskneft’s licensed 
territory.
In 2000, in the Kaliningrad Region
Semyonovskoye oil field, with a high
flow rate, was discovered. The field
was promptly put into trial operation. 
Along with the development of new
fields in the Western Siberian and
Volga-Urals oil and gas bearing
provinces, LUKOIL’s strategy 
provides for an increase in the share
of hydrocarbons produced in the new
promising provinces of Timan-Pechora
and the Northern Caspian where 
production and transportation costs
are lower. 
With this objective in view, in 2000
the Company carried out a series of
measures aimed to explore and
develop hydrocarbon reserves in the
Timan-Pechora and Northern Caspian
areas.
The Tsentralno-Vozeiskoye field was
discovered in the Republic of Komi in
2000. Its reserves are estimated at 
9 million tonnes (as a sum total of the
C1+C2 categories). LUKOIL has
reached an agreement on the acquisi-
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tion of 20% in the Kharyaginskoye oil
field development project (Nenets
Autonomous Area) on the production
sharing terms. The project is expected
to yield 45 million tonnes for the 33
years the production sharing agree-
ment will be in force.
Last year, 2-D and 3-D seismic sur-
veys of the Shirotnaya, Khvalynskaya,
Rakushechnaya and Sarmatskaya
structures of the Severny licensed
Caspian offshore section continued.
Exploration drilling was undertaken in

the Khvalynskaya and Shirotnaya
structures. The construction of the
first exploration well was completed
on the Khvalynskaya structure, and
the drilling of a second well began.
Two exploration wells were drilled in
the Shirotnaya structure, bringing
commercial oil and gas condensate
flows to the surface. The newly-

discovered oil and gas condensate
field was named after Yuri Korchagin.
The Severny licence area’s total hydro-
carbon reserves are estimated at
about 450 million tonnes. 
Representatives of Russia’s leading oil
and gas producing companies –
Gazprom, YUKOS and LUKOIL – have
signed the articles of association of
the Caspian Oil Company (COC) 
which is to search for, explore and
develop oil and gas deposits in the
Caspian region, and, in particular, on
the Caspian shelf. Each of its three
founding companies will hold a third of
the CPC’s charter capital.
In 2000, preparations for the develop-
ment of the D-6 offshore field on the

Baltic Sea shelf continued. Its recover-
able oil reserves are estimated at 
8 million tonnes.
In the same year, oil exploration was
conducted in Kazakhstan and on
Azerbaijan’s Caspian shelf.
In Azerbaijan, exploration work was
carried out on the Shakh-Deniz gas
condensate field, the D-222 block
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(Yalama-Samur) and the Azeri-Chirag-
Gyuneshli field. 
The D-222 structure was prepared for
deep prospect drilling. LUKOIL began
designing a drilling rig capable of pen-
etrating any deep-lying offshore struc-
tures in the Caspian Sea. 
According to a preliminary estimate,
the Shakh-Deniz gas condensate field
contains about 800 billion cubic
metres of natural gas and 200 million
tonnes of gas condensate.
At the beginning of 2001, the State
Oil Company of the Azerbaijan
Republic (SOCAR) and LUKOIL
signed an agreement on joint oil pro-
duction at the Zykh and Govsany
fields, whose aggregate estimated
recoverable reserves exceed 25 mil-
lion tonnes.
In Kazakhstan, geological exploration
was conducted at the Tengiz,
Karachaganak and Kumkol oil fields
and near the Bozingenskaya 
depression.
The chief objectives of geological explo-
ration for 2001 are, as before, to
replace oil produced by discovering new
commercial-sized fields, to maintain the
current level of oil production, and to
bring in new high-priority regions (the
Northern Caspian and Timan-Pechora). 
As of 1 January 2001, the Company is
developing – on its own, through joint
ventures or consortiums – 252 oil and
gas condensate fields, 245 of them on
Russia’s territory.

In 2000, overall drilling increased by
73% and constituted 1.92 million
metres (development drilling amount-
ed to 1.56 million metres, which is
184% up on the 1999 figure).
Some 709 new wells were commis-
sioned for commercial production, 
and 1,567 idle wells were activated.
Enhanced recovery techniques 
brought the Company an additional
12.9 million tonnes of oil.
As of the end of 2000, the total num-
ber of wells amounted to 27.2 thou-
sand, most of them – 26.9 thousand
wells – located in Russia. The total

1998

49.0
13.9

1999

49.7
13.8

10.4

2000

50.8
14.1

10.7

Oil production 
in Russia, 
million tonnes

■ - Western Siberia
■ - European Russia
■ - Timan-Pechora area

1998 1999 2000

67.6

79.8
82.3

Oil and gas 
production, 
million tonnes 
of oil equivalent
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number of idle wells went down 9.5%
(4.3 thousand wells against 4.8 thou-
sand in 1999). The proportion of idle
wells (16%) was below the industry’s
average, which is 22%.

Oil and gas production

In 2000, LUKOIL, including its sub-
sidiaries and joint ventures, produced
more oil than ever – 77.7 million
tonnes. Gas production amounted to 
5 billion cubic metres, which includes 
3.8 billion cubic metres of oil-associ-
ated and 1.2 billion cubic metres of
natural gas. Compared to the year
1999, oil and gas production grew by
2.8 and 6.1%, respectively. 
The Company accounted for 23.4% of
Russia’s overall oil production in 2000.
Within Russia, the Company produced
75.6 million tonnes (an increase of
2.5%) and beyond its borders, 2.1 mil-
lion tonnes (an increase of 17.8%).
The once persistent downward trend
in oil production at the OAO
KomiTEK’s fields was reversed. 
In 2000, oil and gas production from
LUKOIL’s foreign projects continued to
rise. LUKOIL’s share of such produc-
tion constituted 2.1 million tonnes of
oil and 0.75 billion cubic metres of
gas. More specifically:
• at the Tengiz field in Kazakhstan
LUKOIL’s share was 283 thousand
tonnes of oil and 92 million cubic
metres of gas;

• at the Karachaganak field in
Kazakhstan its share was 641 thou-
sand tonnes of condensate and 647
million cubic metres of gas;
• at the Kumkol field in Kazakhstan –
650 thousand tonnes of oil and 7 mil-
lion cubic metres of gas;
• at the Chirag field in Azerbaijan –
442 thousand tonnes of oil;
• at the Meleya field in Egypt – 54
thousand tonnes of oil.
In 2001, the Company plans to pro-
duce from the territory where it cur-
rently operates 79 million tonnes 
of oil and over 5 billion cubic metres
of gas.

Oil exports

In 2000, LUKOIL’s crude oil exports (not
counting deliveries to the refineries in
Belarus) amounted to 28.4 million tonnes. 
Oil exports to countries other than the CIS
members were generally effected by sea,
primarily through the port of Novorossiisk.
The chief destinations of oil deliveries
through the Druzhba oil pipeline were
Poland and the Czech Republic.
In 2001, oil export figures are expected to
remain unchanged. In the long run, the
Company will include among its priorities
an increase in oil export volumes using an
enlarged fleet of its own transportation
vehicles.
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REFINING, 

MARKETING 

AND TRANSPORTATIONIn 2000, refining

of crude oil at

LUKOIL’s own and

third-party

refineries reached 

45 million tonnes, 

an all-time high. 

A campaign was

launched to pro-

mote a new-gener-

ation motor oil –

LUKOIL-Avangard. 

LUKOIL acquired

one of the United

States’ largest inde-

pendent petroleum

product marketing

networks, Getty

Petroleum

Marketing Inc.,

comprising 1,260

gasoline filling sta-

tions located in 13

northeastern states.
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Refining

In 2000, the volume of primary oil
refining by LUKOIL (including pro-
cessing at third-party refineries)
increased by 21% to 45 million
tonnes.
LUKOIL’s own refineries in Russia
processed a total of 23.2 million

tonnes: the Volgograd Refinery, 8.5
million tonnes; the Perm Refinery,
11.1 million tonnes; the Ukhta
Refinery, 3.6 million tonnes, operating
at 86%, 78% and 59% of their capac-
ity, respectively.
The Company’s refineries outside
Russia processed 9 million tonnes of
crude oil. They operated at 47% of
their full capacity in 2000.
Under processing contracts, third-

party refineries in Russia refined 
13 million tonnes of oil.
In 2000, the output of practically 
all petroleum products increased sub-
stantially.
In 2000, modernisation of the
Company’s refineries intended to
increase the depth of refining and
make the refineries more environ-
ment friendly continued.
The first phase of a hydrofining unit
intended for minimising the sulfur
content of diesel fuel was put into
operation at the Volgograd Refinery. 
In 2000, a new tank car loading facili-
ty for light petroleum products was
commissioned at the Company’s
Ukhta Refinery, and the primary
petroleum processing unit was being
modernised there.
The strategic development pro-
gramme of LUKOIL’s refining sector
provides for increasing the depth of
refining to 90-95% (to 65-70% at the
Ukhta Refinery) and for stopping com-
pletely the output of diesel oil with a
0.5% or more sulfur content.
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For the years ended 31 December, billion roubles 2000 1999 1998

Net revenues 398.1 235.1 68.9

Operating profit 89.8 26.8 2.0

Income (loss) before taxation 76.3 18.2 (0.3)

Net income (loss) 66.0 14.4 (1.6)

Capital expenditure and investments 20.3 14.4 7.9

Total assets (as of 31 December) 200.4 131.4 76.3

1998
17.9

1999
29.0

2000

32.2

Refining at the
Company’s refineries, 
million tonnes

1998
2.9

1999
4.9

2000
5.3

Motor gasoline 
output at the Company’s
refineries, 
million tonnes



The Petrotel-LUKOIL Refinery in
Romania increased the proportion of
unleaded gasolines in the total output
of motor gasolines and discontinued
the output of diesel fuels with a 
0.5% or more sulfur content.
In refining, the Company’s strategic
objectives remain to increase output,
improve petroleum product quality,
expand onto the markets of Central
and Southeast Europe to satisfy a
projected rise in demand for petrole-
um products in that region, and opti-
mise interaction between the
Company’s refining and marketing
enterprises there.

Gas processing

As of 31 December 2000, LUKOIL had
three gas processing plants located in
the Volgograd Region (Korobkovsky
plant), the Perm Region (Permneftegaz-
pererabotka) and in the Republic 
of Komi (Usinsky plant).
In 2000, LUKOIL’s gas processing
plants processed 1.4 million tonnes of
feedstock and produced 1.3 million
tonnes of products.

Petroleum product 
marketing

In 2000, LUKOIL sold 43.5 million
tonnes of petroleum products, 26.3
million tonnes of which were supplied
to consumers in the Russian

Federation; 7.8 million tonnes were
exported; and 9.4 million tonnes mar-
keted by LUKOIL’s foreign enterprises.
Out of the overall supply to domestic
market (26.3 million tonnes) 15.2 mil-
lion tonnes were produced at the
Company’s refineries, and 11.1 million
tonnes were delivered under process-
ing contracts with refineries located in
Russia.
In 2000, the Company supplied petro-
leum products, pursuant to govern-
ment delivery programmes, to agricul-
tural enterprises, RAO UES of Russia,
the Ministry of Railways, law-enforce-
ment agencies, the Defence Ministry
and to consumers located in the Far
North. Petroleum product deliveries
for government needs amounted to
4.9 million tonnes in 2000.
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As of 1 January 2001, the Company
ran 11 major petroleum product supply
enterprises.
These enterprises have 150 terminals
with a total storage capacity of 2.35
million cubic metres, and 794 gasoline
filling stations. 
In 2000, petroleum product sales
through a system of product supply
enterprises amounted to 7.2 million
tonnes; this figure included petroleum
products supplied under transit 
(3.9 million tonnes) and transshipment
(0.35 million tonnes) agreements. 
Of the total amount of petroleum prod-
ucts sold by LUKOIL, motor gasoline
constituted 2.1 million tonnes; diesel
fuel 2.0 million tonnes; fuel oil 0.8 mil-
lion tonnes; heating fuel 0.1 million
tonnes; lubricants 0.37 million tonnes,
39 thousand tonnes of which were
packaged oils.
The overall volume of petroleum 
product sales through a network of
gasoline filling stations constituted 
1.4 million tonnes in 2000, which
included 0.6 million tonnes sold under
franchising agreements.
Today, 473 gasoline filling stations are
selling their petroleum products in
Russia under franchising agreements
with LUKOIL.
An extensive advertising campaign
was conducted encouraging con-
sumers to purchase LUKOIL packaged
oils through certified retail outlets run
by official dealers.

In the period under review, efforts
continued  to promote the uniform
LICard fuel cards. To date, the cards
are accepted by 400 filling stations in
86 towns in Russia, the Crimea and

Azerbaijan, with a total of about 50
thousand cards in circulation. 
In 2000, the volume of petroleum
product sales using LICard cards ran
to 101 thousand tonnes.
The regional holding OOO LUKOIL-
Holding Service comprising 26 sub-
sidiaries is in charge of the Company’s
regional policy and oil product sales at
the local level.
As of 1 January 2001, LUKOIL-Holding
Service and its regional subsidiaries
ran 248 gasoline filling stations.
In the period under review, the
Company’s foreign petroleum product
sales network continued to expand.
The number of LUKOIL’s filling sta-
tions in Europe totaled 253.
In November 2000, LUKOIL acquired
Getty Petroleum Marketing Inc.(U.S.),
which runs 1,260 gasoline filling stations
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in 13 northeastern states in the U.S. 
In 2000, Getty Petroleum Marketing
Inc. sold 3 million tonnes of basic
petroleum products, 2.5 million tonnes
of them through the network of gaso-
line filling stations, at an average daily
rate of 5.4 tonnes per station.

Petroleum product exports

In 2000, LUKOIL exported 7.8 million
tonnes of petroleum products overall,
5.6 million tonnes of which were pro-
duced at LUKOIL’s own refineries and
2.2 million tonnes supplied by the
third-party refineries.
A targeted export boosting programme
for commercial and basic lubricants
was carried out. As a result, the overall
lubricants export figure quadrupled over
the year to 273 thousand tonnes, 92

thousand tonnes of which were pack-
aged lubricants. 
Diesel fuel, fuel oil, vacuum gas oil
and lubricants predominated in export
deliveries.

Oil and petroleum product 
transportation

In 2000, the construction of the 748-km
linear section of the oil pipeline being
laid by the Caspian Pipeline Consortium
(CPC) was completed. Modernisation of
the existing pipeline section, 300 km
long, stretching across the Astrakhan
Region and Kalmykia continues. A
haven for service ships, harbor facilities
and the tank farm of the sea terminal in
Novorossiisk are under construction.
The first phase of the Caspian pipeline
with a rated throughput capacity 
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of 28 million tonnes a year is scheduled
for mid-2001.
In the period under review, the 
Perm-Almetyevsk pipeline construc-
tion project was implemented and
preparations were under way for the
construction of the new Kharyaga-Usa
main pipeline. 
In 2000, measures were undertaken to
hand over LUKOIL’s entire sea-going
and river fleet to the LUKOIL-Arctic-
Tanker subsidiary. The latter was made
the sole operator charged with control-
ling the Company’s sea and river cargo
traffic. After the plans are carried out,
the total number of transport vessels
controlled by LUKOIL-Arctic-Tanker will
amount to 122, and their aggregate
freight carrying capacity, will exceed
one million tonnes.
The Company continued jointly working,
with Conoco (U.S.), on the Northern
Transportation System for shipping oil
recovered from the new oil fields of the
Timan-Pechora region. A provisional
arrangement was made for loading
early oil in the area of Varandei and its
transportation by sea to export markets. 
In 2000, the Company’s fleet was
replenished with two new reinforced
icebreaking tankers built in 
St. Petersburg’s Admiralteyskiye 
Verfi Shipyards, the Astrakhan and the
Magas, intended for shipping oil from the
Arctic oil fields. In February 2001, anoth-
er reinforced icebreaking tanker, the
Kaliningrad, was launched. The replenish-

ment of the Company’s fleet with the
Arctic-faring oil tankers will help solve
the problem of keeping the Far North
and the Arctic supplied with petroleum
products and to implement a large-scale
project for the transportation of oil and
gas condensate from northern fields.
In 2001 a technological scheme is
expected to be developed for the regu-

lar transportation of oil from the Ob
fields and for its shipping  by sea from
the Yamal Peninsula fields.
ZAO LUKOIL-Trans is in charge of
LUKOIL products transportation by rail
and road. In 2000, it became the
Company’s only export cargo carrier.
During the period under review, the total
shipment of petroleum products by rail
amounted to 15.9 million tonnes, which
is 1.5 million tonnes more than in 1999.
The tank car fleet constituted 4,300
units in 2000. 
Motor transport carried 1.24 million
tonnes of cargo. The motor vehicle fleet
had 2,874 vehicles.
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Petrochemical production

The Company presently includes the
petrochemical plants OOO Stavrolen
in Stavropol, OOO Saratovorgsintez in
Saratov and the Stavroplast plant in
Mineralniye Vody. In 2000, JV LUKOR
was set up on the basis of the
Ukrainian Oriana petrochemical con-
cern. In addition, there are petro-

chemical facilities at the PETROTEL-
LUKOIL Refinery in Romania and
LUKOIL Neftokhim Bourgas AD in
Bulgaria.
LUKOIL’s petrochemical sector is man-
aged by the Company’s subsidiary –
ZAO LUKOIL-Neftekhim.
In 2000, Stavrolen produced 0.6 mil-
lion tonnes of petrochemical prod-
ucts, Saratovorgsintez - 0.2 million
tonnes, and the LUKOIL Neftokhim
Bourgas Refinery - 0.3 million tonnes.
In December 2000, feedstock was
delivered to LUKOR, Ukraine, and
petrochemical production was
launched there.
The petrochemical production goes, in
particular, into making oil containers
and is used as a high-octane compo-
nent of motor gasolines.
In 2001, the petrochemical sector’s top
priorities will be to raise the operation
profitability and continue the upgrade
of the Company's petrochemical
plants.
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PETROCHEMICAL PRODUCTION AND OTHER LINES OF BUSINESS

For the years ended 31 December, billion roubles 2000 1999 1998

Net revenues 16.2 9.8 2.6

Operating profit 0.6 0.3 0.03

Income before taxation 0.5 0.2 0.1

Net income 0.4 0.1 0.1

Capital expenditure and investments 0.3 0.3 0.01

Total assets (as of 31 December) 11.7 4.6 1.1



Information technologies 
and communications

Versatility, diverse production
processes and work cycles, a rami-
fied hierarchic structure of LUKOIL
oil and gas production enterprises
comprising a multitude of subordina-
tion and interconnection patterns
impose extra demands on the
Company management system which
depends for its superior efficiency on
up-to-date information technologies
and skilled personnel. The Company’s
information technology services con-
centrate on supporting the existing
systems and designing and producing
new applied information systems and

a corporate soft- and hardware envi-
ronment, and introducing revolution-
ary information technologies.
In 2000, LUKOIL proceeded with the
implementation of R/3 system, which
will substantially improve the quality
and efficiency of the Company’s
commodity and financial resources
management.
The first stage, now nearing comple-
tion, comprises the following modules:
book-keeping  with both Russian and
US GAAP standard processing ability;
balance sheet consolidation according
to Russian and US GAAP standards; oil
and petroleum product sales in
domestic and foreign markets; cost
accounting and analysis; sales control;
a single data base for agreements,
creditors and debtors; and analytical
and managerial reporting.
In the period under review, new
information technologies were intro-
duced in the sphere of oil field explo-
ration and development. The geo-
physical data provided by LUKOIL’s
subsidiaries are brought together into
an integrated information space
allowing for a more active use of
modern computer modeling facilities
in oilfield development.
Using the latest Internet technolo-
gies, the LUKOIL Motor Oils Internet
portal was created to keep in touch
with dealers and buyers. The
Company’s products are advertised
via the Internet.
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In 2000, measures were undertaken
to expand the Company’s telecom-
munication system. The first phase
of the 23-station LUKNET trunk satel-
lite communication system was put
into service, making top-quality digital
communication channels available to
the offices of the Company’s key
enterprises. Nine new ground satel-
lite communication stations of
LUKNET network’s second phase
were deployed.

Work continued on integrating indi-
vidual enterprises’ communication
networks into the Company’s single
telecommunication system.
The strategic objective of information
and telecommunication systems
development is to establish the
Company’s integrated information
space, which will make it possible 
to computerise the accounting 
function, improve the executive 
decision-making process, and exer-
cise better control over the
Company’s activity on the domestic
and external markets. 
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R&D and engineering 

The year 2000 saw further develop-
ment of the Company’s R&D complex
and a rise in the Company’s scientific
and technological potential.
The Company set up research insti-
tutes, such as KogalymNIPIneft and
VolgogradNIPImorneft, in the key
regions of its operation.
The total value of projects carried out
using all the sources of financing
exceeded 500 million roubles. The
amount of R&D work done by research
and design organisations increased by
160% compared to the 1999 figure.

New technologies

In 2000, considerable headway was
made in updating and retooling pro-
duction facilities, introducing new
information technologies in the pro-
duction and marketing area, and 
using environment-friendly and ener-
gy-saving processes.
In oil and gas exploration, the effi-
ciency of geophysical survey

increased through deployment of new
research data processing and inter-
pretation methods and supplementing
geophysical investigations with multi-
wave seismic survey, gravimetric and
magnetic prospecting and geochemi-
cal operations. As a result, geological
exploration efficiency increased by
more than 30%, and the additions to
reserves grew by almost 80%. 
Over the past few years, the
Company’s drilling organisations have
been implementing a programme of
cardinal retooling and technological
updating. Drilling subdivisions were
equipped with mobile drilling rigs,
modern drilling mud cleaning sys-
tems, cementing complexes, techno-
logical and geological control stations,
and remote well-path adjustment sys-
tems. These upgrades allowed
LUKOIL to increase drilling by 50%
compared with the last year on the
territory where the Company’s sub-

sidiaries operate and 30% in off-shore
and foreign projects, as well as to
reduce the average well-construction
cycle by almost 40 days.
Pursuant to an intensive technological
development programme, oilfield
facilities and equipment were
replaced and modernised in 2000. 
A series of geological and engineer-
ing measures was applied to improve
the quality of productive formation
drilling-in and new well construction,
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increase well utilisation efficiency and
oil flow rates, and build up technolog-
ical innovation and enhanced oil
recovery efforts, all of which resulted
in a 20-per cent addition to the annual
oil production. The enhanced oil
recovery programme was aimed both
at attaining higher technological effi-
ciency and achieving an economic
benefit with the result that every rou-
ble invested in new technologies
returned 3.5 roubles.
In relation to well maintenance and
repair, the use of specially-selected
bottom-hole equipment, integral joint
drill pipes, new technologies and
strengthening operational quality con-
trol extended the maintenance-free
well service life by 13 days.
Ways to re-equip gas producing and 
processing facilities were identified
and steps were undertaken to
increase gas utilisation and trans-
portation efficiency. At the
Company’s enterprises located in the
north of European Russia, these
measures were incorporated in the
special federal programme for devel-

oping oil fields in the Timan-Pechora
province before 2005.
In refining, production facilities reno-
vation and modernisation pro-
grammes have been drawn up cover-
ing the following main issues:
increasing the depth of refining,
replacing fixed assets, widening the
range of petroleum products, improv-
ing their quality, and minimising the
impact of refineries on the environ-
ment. The introduction of new tech-
nologies enabled LUKOIL to expand
its range of marketable petroleum
products by adding new environment-
friendly petroleum products with
improved operational characteristics.
It has also made it possible for
LUKOIL to obtain quality certificates
and enter a large number of the
Company’s petroleum products in the
Federal Register.
With a view to ensuring the efficient
operation of petroleum product sup-
pliers and raising their technological
standards, the Company has drawn
up and is now implementing a mar-
keting sector restructuring pro-
gramme which envisages upgrading
equipment, putting into operation an
extra tank farm, discharging and load-
ing piers, installing treatment facili-
ties, expanding the range of com-
modities and improving the quality of
paid services.
During programme implementation,
the rates of fixed assets introduction
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and their routine and major repairs
have increased. As a result, the aver-
age deterioration in petroleum prod-
uct suppliers’ fixed asset has dimin-
ished, and low-profit and unprofitable
facilities have been shut down, moth-
balled or leased out. The promotion
of plastic cards as a means of pay-
ment for petroleum products pur-
chased has greatly enhanced the effi-
ciency of the settlements system and
its management.
The Programme for the Development
of LUKOIL’s Petrochemical
Enterprises was developed in 2000,
which envisaged measures to
increase the yield and efficiency of
hydrocarbons processing, obtain poly-
mers and other products which meet
modern world market standards and
are likely to find consumer demand,
and make the most of the existing
production facilities.

Continued modernisation of the
Company’s production facilities along
the lines of introducing ecologically
clean technologies made it possible
to set up an environmental protection
and labour and industrial safety sys-
tem meeting the latest requirements,
which was certified in 2000 as con-
forming to the ISO 14001 and OHSAS
18001 international standards.
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Environmental protection 
and labour safety

In 2000, LUKOIL’s main activities in
the field of environmental protection
were, as before, certification and eco-
logical auditing of industrial facilities,
introduction of environmental monitor-
ing systems at the Company’s enter-
prises designed to reduce their
adverse impact on the soil, air 
and water.
Preparations have been made for the
certification of the environmental pro-
tection management system as con-
forming to the requirements of the ISO
14001 international standard. The first

stage of the environmental protection
management system certification was
successfully completed in December
2000. In January 2001, LUKOIL was
the first Russian oil company to
receive a certificate of its corporate
environment protection management
system conforming to the require-
ments of the ISO 14001 international
standard.
The Company’s achievements in assur-
ing environmental safety when explor-
ing for hydrocarbon reserves on the
Caspian Sea shelf in May 2000 were

noted by the President of Russia. In
December 2000, the Company was
named the winner, for the second year
running, in the category «For Effective
Environmental Policy» in the «Best
Russian Enterprises» contest. 
In 2000, the Company did much to
ensure environmental safety, at a cost
of over 6.2 billion roubles (3.6 times up
on the 1999 figure).
OOO LUKOIL-Western Siberia over-
hauled 850 km of oil pipelines 
and reclaimed 414.5 hectares of 
oil-polluted land.
OOO LUKOIL-Astrakhanmorneft con-
ducted baseline environmental studies
of the Khvalynskaya, Shirotnaya,
Sarmatskaya and Rakushechnaya
structures in the Caspian Sea. 
OAO KomiTEK undertook measures to
clean oil polluted territories, reclaiming
131 hectares of land.
OOO LUKOIL-Volgogradneftepererabot-
ka commissioned the first phase of a
diesel fuel hydrofining unit.
In 2000, waste treatment facilities
were built at petroleum product supply
enterprises and measures to reduce
adverse environmental impact were
undertaken. 
In the sphere of industrial safety and
labour protection, LUKOIL’s objectives
were, as in previous years, to maintain
a high level of industrial safety at pro-
duction facilities and exercise strict
control over the observance of labour
protection standards.
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The Company developed and imple-
mented its Industrial Safety and
Labour Protection Management
System.
LUKOIL was the first Russian company
to qualify for a certificate that its indus-
trial safety and labour protection man-
agement system conforms to the
requirements of the OHSAS 18001
standard.
Owing to a sustained effort to guaran-
tee industrial safety and labour protec-
tion the incidence of occupational
injuries and the accident rate in gener-
al have been on a downward trend in
the Company for a number of years.

Personnel and social policies

LUKOIL pays special attention to rais-
ing its employees’ and managers’ 
professional standards. The
Company’s personnel receives
advanced training at Russia’s leading
educational institutions including the
Academy of the National Economy
under the Russian Federation
Government, Moscow State
University, the Russian State Oil and
Gas University, the Moscow Institute
of International Relations,and others.
Providing social benefits to its employ-
ees, their families and non-working

retirees remained a top priority when
drawing up and implementing social
programmes, which were financed out 
of the Company’s budget and those 
of all its subsidiaries. 
The Company has established its cor-
porate Health Protection Plan for OAO
LUKOIL personnel. The Medved LK
medical insurance company provides
voluntary insurance coverage 
to 60 thousand employees.
The Company operates a non-govern-

ment pension system for all employ-
ees. Pensions are paid to the
Company’s 2.8 thousand pensioneers
through the LUKOIL-GARANT non-gov-
ernment pension fund.

Charity and sponsorship

The Company attaches great impor-
tance to charitable and sponsorship
activities and leads the Russian busi-
ness community in this area.
In particular, it sponsors on a perma-
nent basis the Tchaikovsky Grand
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Symphony Orchestra, the Berezka
Dance Ensemble, Ludmila Zykina’s
Rossia Folk Song Ensemble, the
Russian Song Choir conducted by
Nikolai Kutuzov, the Tchaikovsky
Perm Opera and Ballet Company, 
the Komi National Folklore Theatre,
the State Tretyakov Picture Gallery,
and other bodies.
In 2000, it provided financial support
to oil universities in Moscow, Ukhta,
Tyumen, Samara, Ufa, and other cities.

LUKOIL regularly renders assistance
to victims of the hostilities in
Daghestan, Chechnya, and other 
trouble spots.
It purchased costly medicine for the
wounded undergoing treatment at the
A.A. Vishnevsky Military Hospital and
at the Fourth Central Tuberculosis
Hospital. 
LUKOIL could not help but respond to
the Kursk submarine tragedy. It pro-
vided financial support to the
bereaved families of the submarine’s
crew members.

In 2000, the Company made generous
donations to World War II veterans on
the occasion of the 55th anniversary
of Victory, provided humanitarian aid
to Chechnya’s civilians via the
Representative Office of the Chechen
Republic, and made other donations.
The overall volume of aid given 
by the LUKOIL Charitable Fund alone
more than doubled in 2000, amount-
ing to 72 million roubles. 
LUKOIL’s subsidiaries are also giving

generously to charitable causes in the
regions where they operate.
LUKOIL maintains a motor racing
team which competes in Tourism
1600 and Formula-3 track events. 
The Company is the general sponsor
of the Russian soccer team Spartak,
supports the teams LUKOIL-
Bashkortostan (cinder-track speed-
way), LUKOIL-Spartak of Volgograd
(water polo), LUKOIL-Dynamo,
Astrakhan (handball), and the 
Russian national women’s ski 
racing team.

31



32

The LUKOIL Group

restructuring 

programme, 

developed 

in 2000 and consis-

tently implemented

since then, is aimed

principally at the

Group’s more effi-

cient organisation,

increased managea-

bility and stricter 

corporate control

over its subsidiaries’

activities.

CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE



ANNUAL REPORT 2000

The Company’s 
management structure

The General Meeting of the
Shareholders is LUKOIL’s supreme 
management body. The Board of
Directors exercises general manage-
ment of the Company and acts on the
authority of the Statute of the Board of
Directors. Its responsibilities include
decision-making on the key issues of
the Company’s day-to-day activity.
The Management Committee, headed
by the Company’s President, is an exec-
utive body collectively responsible for
making decisions involved in the
Company’s routine management.
LUKOIL’s central management is divid-
ed in 2 sections and is formed of subdi-
visions for the sectoral and functional
coordination of the Group’s activities,
each of which is supervised by the
Company’s first vice-presidents. Within
each block, control over various lines of
business is exercised by the Company’s
vice-presidents.

LUKOIL’s organisational 
consolidation

The chief objective of consolidation
strategy is to achieve the LUKOIL
Group’s organisational integrity essen-
tial for concentrating corporate
resources on the key elements of the
Company’s development. With this
aim in view, LUKOIL formed a cen-
tralised corporate management sys-

tem allowing to exercise full control
over the subsidiaries’ decision-making.
The LUKOIL Group’s restructuring pro-
gramme, developed in 2000 and being
steadily implemented since then, is
aimed principally at the Group’s more
efficient organisation, improved man-
ageability and stricter corporate con-
trol over its subsidiaries’ activities.
The restructuring programme provides
for retaining only large and promising
units in the LUKOIL Group, selected
on the basis of an individual approach,
taking into consideration each unit’s
line of business, strategic importance,
and financial performance indices.
It is planned to eliminate duplication of
similar enterprises operating within
one region, to reorganise regional
service enterprises to become part of
of centralised service companies, and
to sell interests in small and marginal
enterprises.
The implementation of this pro-
gramme will reduce the total number
of the entities in the LUKOIL Group
including affiliated companies to
almost half as early as in 2001.
The rapid expansion of LUKOIL’s inter-
national operations called for the
establishment of two international divi-
sions – one for oil and gas exploration
and production project coordination
and the other for the organisation of
petroleum and petrochemical products
manufacturing and marketing abroad.
LUKOIL Overseas Holdings Ltd. and
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LUKOIL International GmbH, which
are 100-percent subsidiaries, were
formed to manage these divisions.
The subsidiary ZAO LUKOIL-
Neftekhim has been set up to ensure
harmonised technological advance-
ment and commercial policy of the
Company’s petrochemical business. 
A programme for separating service
subdivisions from the subsidiaries is
part of the Company’s organisational
development project. As a result of
their integration the following cen-
tralised service companies have been
set up: ZAO LUKOIL-Trans, OOO
LUKOIL-Bureniye, OOO Torgovy Dom
LUKOIL, ZAO LUKOIL-Neftegazstroi,
OAO LUKOIL-Arctic-Tanker, ZAO
LUKOIL-Inform and others, each hav-
ing a regional service network of its
own.

Information transparency 
and openness

The Company has adopted international
financial accounting standards to provide
for the international comparability of its
performance results. To date, its financial
accounts beginning from 1998 onwards
have been converted to US GAAP stan-
dards. Starting in 2001, its quarterly
financial accounts will be compiled in
accordance with the generally accepted
accounting principles (US GAAP).
KPMG, one of the world’s leading
accounting and consulting firms, has

been LUKOIL’s auditor since 1994.
In addition to the main financial and
operating results, the Company seeks to
disclose, accurately and in good time, all
additional material information which
could influence the decisions of share-
holders, investors and other market par-
ticipants.
Electronic information dissemination sys-
tems are used to facilitate and stream-
line the access to information. 

Corporate management 
development 

Further development of the Company’s
management system continues to step
up the efficiency of decision-making on
the basis of the transition to internation-
al corporate management standards.
Meeting the requirements of interna-
tional standards, in terms of financial
transparency, is called for by the need
to protect shareholders’ and investors’
rights. A programme for disclosing
LUKOIL-related information has been
developed to stimulate feedback.
The Company is promoting a new incen-
tive scheme. A profit sharing arrange-
ment has been adopted in line with
common international practice, which
involves both managerial staff and
employees. 
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since 1996
General Director, OOO LUKOIL-Holding-

Service, since 1998

Vitaly Lesnichy

Member of the Management Committee
since 1994

Vice-President since 1994
Head of the Main Department for 

Oil Production

Alexander Smirnov

Member of the Management Committee
since 1998

Vice-President since 1998
General Director

OOO Torgovy Dom LUKOIL

Vagit Sharifov
Vice-President since 1996

Member of the Board of Directors 
since 1993 

Member of the Management Committee
since 1996

Head of the Main Department for 
Petroleum Products Marketing

Vladimir Malin

Member of the Board of Directors 

since 2000

Chairman, Russian Federal Property

Management Fund

Veniamin Sukharev

Member of the Board of Directors 

since 1993

General Director, OOO LUKOIL

Permnefteorgsintez

Anatoly Yashchenko

Member of the Management Committee

since 1995

Chairman of the MOPO Council since

1994 (LUKOIL labour union)
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MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS, 

CONSULTANTS 

AND BUSINESS PARTNERS

AND PARTICIPANTS 

IN MAJOR JOINT VENTURES
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THIS SECTION IS

LUKOIL’S TRIBUTE

OF RESPECT AND

GRATITUDE TO 

VOLGOGRAD AND

ITS REGION, 

TO THEIR PEOPLE,

TO THE HEROIC

PAST, 

GLORIOUS 

PRESENT AND

BRIGHT FUTURE 

OF THE GREAT 

RUSSIAN CITY 

ON THE RIVER

VOLGA

GENERAL INFORMATION

Year of foundation: 1589.
As of 1 January 2000, the city’s popula-
tion was 1,026,000, or 38% of the
Volgograd Region’s total population.
Population of working age makes up 59%
of the total population. The Volgograd
Region is inhabited by people of over 100
nationalities and ethnic groups.

The Region occupies an area of 
11.3 million square metres. The City of
Volgograd stretches along the Volga
River for 80 km (it is Europe’s second
longest city).

HISTORY

Thanks to its unique geographical loca-
tion at the junction of land routes and
waterways connecting Europe and Asia,
the city of Volgograd (formerly Tsaritsyn,
Stalingrad) has always played an impor-
tant role in Russian history from the
times of Muscovy and the Russian
Empire through the Soviet period to this
day. Over its 400-year history, the city
has repeatedly found itself in the midst
of major historical events.
Tsaritsin emerged in the steppeland, 
“an Asian wedge,” to quote Russian
historian Vassily Klyuchevsky, “protrud-
ing into the European continent and
very much part of Asia historically and
climatically. From time immemorial, it
offered strange intruders, all those
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nomad hordes countless like blades of
feather grass or grains of sand pouring
in from the innermost depths of Asia, a
pathway for raids on Europe through
the Urals-Caspian gate…”
The tract of steppeland between the
Volga and Don rivers was an arena for
bloody battles for centuries. Quite often,
the savage hordes took the fortress by
storm, robbed it and razed it to the
ground, but Tsaritsin rose from the ashes
again and again and kept the flag flying
in the face of adversity. The land sung by
anonymous folk bards and famous poets
remembers Peter the Great with his dar-
ing projects. Troops led by the legendary
insurgents Stepan Razin, Kondraty
Bulavin and Yemelyan Pugachov
appeared there, and ordinary German
settlers who raised and processed
brown mustard seeds in Sarepta. 
A provincial town of tsarist Russia,
Tsaritsin developed into a major trade
and industrial center by the turn of the
20th century. The first tractor plant, a
high-capacity thermal power plant, a
large shipyard and modern housing
developments were rapidly constructed
there, on the Volga bank, practically
overnight, and the local metallurgical
and woodworking industries were also
modernised. The city’s population
increased five-fold compared with the
pre-revolutionary figure.
In the trying year of 1942, during the
days of the Battle of Stalingrad, the city
turned into a seething sea of fire.
Soldiers, who represented all the peo-

ples of the multinational Soviet state,
and the residents of Stalingrad, rose to
defend the city. The Battle of Stalingrad
lasted for 200 days and nights. Two
armies, each over a million strong,
clashed in what was one of the most
unprecedented battles in world history.
A great victory, which marked the turn-
ing-point in World War II, was won at
the walls of Stalingrad on 2 February
1943. The Chilean poet Pablo Neruda
called the city “a living epitome of
dauntless courage.” 
Stalingrad has come to be identified
with the greatest event in our nation’s
grueling 20th-century history – the
Great Victory in World War II. The title
of Heroic City was conferred on
Stalingrad for its outstanding services to
the country, and for its people’s forti-
tude and heroism.
After seeing the debris of what once
used to be the city’s streets and plants,
Mr. Davies, the then U.S. Ambassador
to the Soviet Union, said: “This city is
dead and you will never restore it. What
is dead is dead. I have never heard of
anyone rising from the dead.”
Nevertheless, the war-shattered city
was built anew. The Volga-Don naviga-
ble canal and Europe’s largest
hydropower station were built there. A
refinery, the largest one in the Lower
Volga area, was put into operation in
1958. All that called for no less heroic
effort on the part of Volgograd’s resi-
dents and specialists from all corners of
the Soviet Union.
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By its 400th anniversary, Volgograd
stands high on the list of the nation's
leading industrial and cultural centres.

ECONOMY

A wealth of various minerals is concen-
trated in the region’s subsurface. Its oil,
natural gas, phosphorite, sodium chloride,
building sand and mineral water reserves
have been explored and are being devel-
oped. Potassium ore deposits have been
discovered and explored. 
There are over 280 solid mineral
deposits in the region. An exceptional
and the world’s largest deposit of
bischofite (magnesium chloride) has
been found in the Volgograd Region,
which contains practically all the ele-
ments of the Mendeleyev Table.
Russia’s leading enterprises of the chemi-
cal and petrochemical industries, oil and
gas producing facilities and refineries, are
located in the Volgograd Region. Building
materials factories, ferrous and non-fer-
rous metallurgy plants, engineering and
instrument-making works as well as light
industry, food-packing and processing
plants are also operating in the region. 
Major railway and highways, air and
water routes run across the region, con-
necting it with all parts of Russia and
the CIS member-states.
The products of Volgograd’s industry –
tractors and river-sea vessels, drilling
and petrochemical equipment, steel and
aluminium, steel ropes and medical

equipment, tyres, petroleum products,
synthetic resins and plastics, fibres and
threads, caustic soda – are all well
known in and outside of Russia.

CULTURE, ART AND SPORTS

The Volgograd Region is the heir to a rich
cultural heritage. The Memorial to the
Heroes of the Stalingrad Battle on the
Mamai Mound is of Russian and global
significance. Its central figure – The
Motherland – is the world’s largest struc-
ture of its kind (overall height 85 metres).
The city is a major cultural centre boast-
ing seven theaters, a philharmonic socie-
ty, a Russian Army Officers’ Club, a
modern circus, dozens of libraries and
community centres, and a planetarium
equipped with unique optical equipment.
The Volgograd Region traditionally hosts
numerous international and national fes-
tivals – including those relating to ball-
room dancing, folk music, the “U
Lukomorya” young folk singers’ festival,
Ukrainian culture festivities, the
“Sarepta Meetings” festivals of the
Volga area ethnic communities.
The state-run and municipal museums
contain valuable archeological, ethno-
graphic and numismatic collections,
unique memorial relics linked with Peter
the Great and the famous Soviet Marshals
Georgy Zhukov, Alexander Vassilevsky,
Andrei Yeryomenko, and Vassily Chuikov.
Volgograd is well known for its athletic
feats. Its schools of swimming, soccer,
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handball, basketball, water polo and other
sports have made a name for themselves
in Russia and beyond. At the 1996 Atlanta
Olympics, Volgograd athletes won five
gold, four silver and one bronze medal.
Hundreds of thousands of visitors from all
corners of the country and from abroad
come to Volgograd every year. Following
Alexander Dumas, Maxim Gorky, John
Steinbeck and Pablo Neruda, each guest
made his own declaration of love for it. 
As generations succeed one another, the
appearance of the legendary city on the
Volga is changing. Its residents, however,
remain as friendly, kind-hearted, warm in
their own southern way, and personable
as ever. They take pride in their city’s glo-
rious past and seek to be worthy of it.

LUKOIL’S ACTIVITIES IN VOLGOGRAD 

Fruitful and mutually beneficial cooperation
between LUKOIL and the Volgograd
Region is in its sixth year now. Functioning
in the region now are oil producing sub-
sidiaries acquired by the Company in 1995,
joint ventures, a refinery and a far-flung oil
product retailing network.
In 2000, the Company’s enterprises pro-
duced in the Volgograd Region 3.6 mil-
lion tonnes of oil, refined more than 8.5
million tonnes of crude and marketed
0.35 million tonnes of petroleum prod-
ucts. Export of oil and petroleum prod-
ucts amounted to 1.5 and 2.5 million
tonnes, respectively. LUKOIL runs 150
filling stations.

The Company remains the major taxpayer
of the region accounting for 25% of the
region’s budget revenues. In certain towns
and other population centers of the region
its share amounts to 65-70%. In 2000,
LUKOIL’s enterprises paid 6.9 billion rou-
bles in taxes. LUKOIL’s Volgograd Region
subsidiaries employ 15.2 thousand people.
LUKOIL is the leading investor in the
region’s economy. In 2000, it put 4.2 bil-
lion roubles into oil prospecting and pro-
duction, refininery modernisation and the
development of the marketing and logistic
systems. Renovation of the Volgograd
Refinery, one of the region’s largest, is
among LUKOIL’s top priorities in the
region, the objective being to put the refin-
ery in a class with the world’s best refiner-
ies for output quality and production effi-
ciency. In 2000, a diesel fuel hydrofining
unit with a capacity of 1.4 million tonnes a
year was completed and the construction
of lubricant oil canning lines and waste
treatment plants continued. Before 2005,
seven new refining lines will go into oper-
ation at the Volgograd Refinery to increase
the quantity, widen the range and improve
the quality of its products.
LUKOIL owes its successes primarily to its
personnel, whose superior professional
standards, proficiency, responsibility and
civilised attitude to the environment, to our
historical and cultural heritage add up to
maintain and augment LUKOIL’s potential
in the region and to enable further promo-
tion of the strategic partnership between
the Company and the city of Volgograd.

41



42

Overview of the situation in 2000

During the previous year the situation on the

markets was the most favourable in the past

decade. Prices for energy resources remained sta-

ble at high levels. This was accompanied by a

growing demand for and consumption of hydro-

carbons, petroleum products and petrochemi-

cals. High crude oil prices were triggered by the

unusually low level of oil inventories on the

biggest American market; relatively high rates of

economic development in Western Europe, the

U.S.A. and the Asian-Pacific Region; and coordi-

nated actions  by the key oil exporters – the

OPEC member-countries. 

High crude oil prices led to high prices for petro-

leum products, growing refining margins at

Western and Central European oil refineries, and

record-high prices for petrochemical and chem-

ical products. 

The prospects of economic development in

Russia in 2000 remained good, as the positive

dynamics and growth rates in the real sector of

the economy were maintained at a high level.

The actual GDP growth was 8.3%. The govern-

ment’s gold and foreign currency reserves

reached a record high of $28 billion and are still

growing. The foreign trade turnover amounted

to $150.5 billion (131%), and the trade balance,

to $60.7 (168%). Inflation was down from 36.5%

ANALYSIS OF THE PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL POSITION 

OF THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP 



to 20.2%. The stability and predictability of the

rouble exchange rate persisted. For the first time

in many years, Federal budget resulted in an

impressive surplus. Tax revenues showed a dra-

matic growth. The Central Bank’s refinancing

rate fell to 25% – the past decade’s lowest figure.

The incomes and living standards of the popula-

tion were also on the rise. 

A sharp increase in capital investment in indus-

try constituted an important factor in maintain-

ing long-term economic growth rates (17.4%).

These notably outpaced changes in other impor-

tant macroeconomic indices. 

In 2000, important measures were taken to

reform the tax system, economic legislation and

interbudget relations, and to restructure natural

monopolies. The first and largely encouraging

results of these reforms have been witnessed in

the 1st and 2nd quarters of 2001. 

Key financial results

The Company’s financial results in 2000 can be

safely described as record high. 

Group’s income before taxation amounted to

112.6 billion roubles, or 2.7 times as much as in

1999, in current prices. Operating profit in 2000

increased to 119.0 billion roubles, compared

with 48.9 billion the year before. 

Interest and dividend income increased by 119%,

to 5.4 billion roubles. Interest expense on debt

servicing (excluding those capitalised) amount-

ed to 5.4 billion roubles. Net loss from  non-

operating revenues and expense shrank over the

accounting period down to 581 million roubles,

against 6.6 billion in 1999. A major  item under

non-operating revenues and expenses consists

of local taxes included in financial results. Local

taxes paid in 2000 totaled 3.2 billion roubles (2.3

billion roubles in 1999). This growth is explained

by the bigger taxable base for the maintenance

of social and cultural facilities and an increase in

property tax.  Net losses on non-recurring items

made up 8.8 billion roubles, against 4.0 billion in

the previous year. This item includes bad debt

writeoffs (2.4 billion roubles), net losses of previ-

ous years, which were recognised in the

accounting period (1.1 billion roubles), provi-

sions for securities devaluation and premium on

convertible bonds (2.9 billion roubles). In 2000,

the share of the LUKOIL Group in the net

income of its affiliated companies – capitalised

income – accounted for 3.0 billion roubles (61%

growth). Income taxes rose to 16.2 billion rou-

bles against 9.5 billion roubles in 1999. 

The net consolidated income of the LUKOIL

Group totaled 96.4 billion roubles (after

deducting 6.1 billion roubles attributable to

minority shareholders of subsidiaries). Earnings

per common share (projected dividends on

preference stock not included) was 124 rou-

bles, which, under comparable circumstances,

means a trebling. 

The Group’s assets as of  31 December 2000

amounted to 338.1 billion roubles (227.4 billion

in the previous year) and shareholders’ equity,

156.2 billion roubles (75.7 billion). 

Virtually all analytical balance sheet indicators

improved significantly over the accounting

period. 

Operating activities       

Increase in world and domestic prices for crude

oil and petroleum products, a greater volume of

production and sales, the restructuring of basic

business processes and new acquisitions secured

further growth of the Company’s revenues from
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core and related operations. Group’s net rev-

enues amounted to 405.9 billion roubles, against

268.2 billion in 1999. Subsidiaries engaged in

exploration and production of oil and gas

recorded net revenues of  101.0 billion roubles.

Enterprises dealing mainly in refining, supplies,

transportation and marketing contributed 398.1

billion roubles to the Company’s revenues. Net

revenues of petrochemicals and products of sub-

sidiaries operating in other lines of business

totaled 16.2 billion roubles. Intra-Group (inter-

segment) sales, eliminated from consolidated

statements, amounted to 109.4 billion roubles

over the year. 

A major factor for the Company’s growing rev-

enues in 2000 was the improvement in market

conditions. Prices rose on virtually all regional

and commodity markets, both in Russia and

abroad, in all functional segments—for crude oil,

petroleum products and petrochemical prod-

ucts, both wholesale and retail. 

Changes in the taxation system that occurred in

2000 came from both the general process of tax

reform in Russia and the introduction of new

approaches to the taxation of oil companies. The

changes were as follows: 

• excise tax for gasoline was raised to 455-585

roubles per tonne;

• most regional and local tax excemptions were

cancelled;

• variable export duty was introduced on crude

oil and tied to world prices which ranges from 0

to 48 euro per tonne);

• export duties on petroleum products  were

introduced: light distillates and gas-oils (32

euro), middle distillates (25 euro), and fuel oil

(27 euro). 

Taxes and non-budget state funds deductions

accrued by the Group’s subsidiaries amounted to

128.3 billion roubles over the year, making up a

2.2-fold increase over 1999. Out of the total

amount of taxes, federal and regional budgets

accounted for 114.2 billion roubles; non-budget

state road funds – 7.6 billion roubles; and social

insurance funds – 6.5 billion roubles. The

Russian-based companies of the Group account-

ed for 93% of total taxes, while the international

enterprises for 7%. 

In the accounting year, the increase in costs per-

sisted (in nominal terms),  owing, on the one

hand, to inflationary processes in the economy

and, on the other, to the expansion of produc-

tion, diversification of business and retooling of

oil exploration, production and refining facili-

ties. The wholesale price index in the Russian

industry for 2000 was 31.6%. The corresponding

growth of the Company’s production costs,

resulting from indexation of staff wages and

salaries, price rises for resources consumed and a

greater volume of equipment repairs and main-

tenance work was 25-28% over the same period

last year. It is worth noting that, with respect to

the per-unit cost of oil production and refining

in Russia, LUKOIL retains a competitive edge in

both the international and domestic oil and gas

businesses. The production cost of crude oil (not

including taxes and depreciation charges) by the

end of 2000 was 450 roubles per tonne and the

cost of refining was 300 roubles, or 30% and

50%, respectively, less than the level of similar

production facilities abroad. 

Selling and administrative expenses of the

Group amounted to 39.8 billion roubles over the

year (68% and 32%, respectively), showing an

increase of 131% over the previous year. This was

due to a considerable increase in freight volume

and in the transportation costs, as well as to the

expansion of the Group. Administrative expens-



es also include taxes (2.2 billion roubles), depre-

ciation (0.1 billion roubles) and wages and

salaries (1.4 billion roubles). 

In relative terms (percentage of net revenues),

aggregate costs and expenses dropped to 70.7%,

against 81.8% in 1999 and 93.8% in 1998.

Depreciation, amortization and depletion

charges amounted to 9.4 billion roubles over the

year (6.3 billion in 1999), or 5% of the average

annual gross value of tangible and intangible

assets, which makes the average life of the

Company’s fixed assets (capital) equal to 20

years. 

Noteworthy among the positive signs in the

Company’s development in 2000 are positive

financial results of LUKOIL’s international activi-

ties. Net income of the Group’s enterprises

abroad amounted to $115 million in 2000,

against losses of $20 million (these figures do not

include interest of minority shareholders). In

addition to the improved market situation, the

increase was also promoted by better coordina-

tion of and supervision over the operation of all

the links in the LUKOIL technological and

administration system abroad. The increased

efficiency of international operations can be

illustrated by the example of several oil and gas

production projects in Azerbaijan and

Kazakhstan (combined net income of $99 mil-

lion) and the performance of LUKOIL

Neftokhim Bourgas AD ($57 million). The

turnover of the Group’s enterprises abroad was

$7.8 billion over the year. Other basic character-

istics of LUKOIL’s international activities are set

out in the notes to the financial statements. 

An important acquisition made by the Company

internationally in 2000 was a sales network for

marketing motor gasoline, fuel oil and lubricants

in the northeast of the U.S., Getty Petroleum

Marketing Inc., consisting of 1,260 gasoline fill-

ing stations and 30 terminals. Its annual market-

ing turnover is in excess of $1 billion. Earnings

before interest expense, tax, depreciation and

amortisation amounted to $30 million. The

acquisition was made at the end of 2000 and has

not affected the financial results of the Group in

the accounting period in any material respect.

To consolidate its obvious successes in interna-

tional activities, the Company is planning to

implement a number of programmes aimed at a

sustained growth of profitability of its interna-

tional projects, with their further integration

into the general system of LUKOIL operations. 

Working capital 

In 2000, the Company’s working capital (the

level and dynamics of accounts payable and

receivable, inventories, settlements and pay-

ments) followed the general positive trend of

the main financial indices. Over the last two

years, the Company managed to collect pay-

ments from the consumers of  its products virtu-

ally in full. The increase in trade receivables

over the year made up less than 2% of gross rev-

enues. The amount of non-cash payments

(barter, promissory notes, etc.) shrank in 2000 in

the Group as a whole down to 5-7%. The

Company’s management planned to achieve this

level only by 2005. The use of promissory notes

as a money substitute under conditions of a liq-

uidity deficit, which was characteristic of  previ-

ous periods, has almost completely disappeared. 

The inventories of the Group as of  31 December

2000 amounted to 19.3 billion roubles, including

7.5 billion roubles worth of finished marketable

products and 1.1 billion roubles of work-in-

process costs. 
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Tax liabilities were fulfilled in 2000 on time and

in full. Accounts payable by the Group in respect

of tax and non-budget payments fell by 31%,

from 13.2 to 9.2 billion roubles. Advance tax pay-

ments totaled 9.7 billion roubles. 

The Company’s working capital, determined as

the excess of current assets over current liabili-

ties, amounted, on the accounting date, to 54.1

billion roubles, compared to 25.9 billion in 1999. 

Investment activities 

Increased profitability from the Company’s main

lines of business strengthened its capacity for its

development funding, with the proportion of

loans being reduced and that of internal funds

increasing markedly. The priorities of the invest-

ment strategies pursued by LUKOIL in 2000

included, as before, expansion of production

facilities and business processes, ensuring the

Company’s progress and competitive rates of

return on investment. 

In 2000, the Company initiated a comprehensive

analysis of projects for investment attractiveness,

using the cost of capital (WACC) for LUKOIL as a

benchmark. Investment projects are carefully

selected by the Company ensuring their internal

rate of  return complies with the weighted aver-

age cost of capital, calculated annually in com-

pliance with globally accepted standards. This

approach takes the fullest possible account of

Company shareholders’ interests and boosts the

Company’s efficiency in creating value for share-

holders. 

A detailed analysis of the efficiency of most exist-

ing and prospective projects shows that their

internal rate of return exceeds the weighted

average cost of capital for LUKOIL. 

In 2000, capital expenditure and investments

(including exploration expenditures) of the

consolidated Group were 64.2 billion roubles

(31.2 billion in 1999). All value indicators are

given in rouble equivalents. Eighty-six percent

of capital expenditure were financed from

internal cash flows (profits, depreciation, etc.).

Total investments of the Group were distrib-

uted among lines of business by sector (groups

of enterprises engaged in the same line of activ-

ities) as follows: 

• exploration and production of crude oil and

natural gas—43.6 billion roubles (68% of total

investments made by the Group, a 163% growth

over the previous year);

• refining, marketing and transportation—20.3

billion roubles (31%, 42%); 

• petrochemicals and other lines of business—

0.3 billion roubles (1%, 21%).

Major business projects of LUKOIL were

financed in 2000 in the following amounts: 

• exploration activities in all regions of opera-

tion—8.3 billion roubles; 

• maintaining and increasing the volume of pro-

duction in Russia in those regions where the

Company was traditionally operating (Western

Siberia, the Urals, the Volga area and others)—

19.8 billion roubles;

• expanding oil and gas production in the north

of Russia (the Republic of Komi, the Arkhangelsk

Region)—4.5 billion roubles;

• financing the modernisation of refineries

located in Russia (the Volgograd, Perm and

Ukhta refineries)—6.0 billion roubles;

• expanding the network of gasoline filling sta-

tions in Russia—2.6 billion roubles;

• constructing the Perm-Almetyevsk petroleum

product pipeline—0.9 billion roubles; 

• enlarging the fleet of sea vessels and rolling

stock—2.2 billion roubles; 



• constructing the Caspian pipeline from

Kazakhstan to Russia—7.1 billion roubles;

• financing oil and gas production abroad—5.9

billion roubles;

• expanding the refining and marketing net-

work in Central European and Eastern European

countries and former Soviet republics—2.4 bil-

lion roubles.

The financing for 2001 capital investment has

been approved in the amount of 75 billion rou-

bles. 

The persisting favourable market situation and a

beneficial external environment, as well as mod-

erately optimistic forecasts concerning the

development of Russia’s economy, give the hope

that the Company will have sufficient long-term

capacity to finance its investments, estimated for

the next 10 years at $30 billion. 

Financial activities 

The financial obligations of the Group, as of  31

December 2000, amounted to 81.9 billion rou-

bles. Long-term loans with an average maturity

of 6 to 7 years, at a weighted average nominal

interest rate of 8%, predominate in the Group’s

liabilities (82%). A significant proportion of

debts consists of loans and credits provided to

international subsidiaries of the Group to

finance development programmes. The structure

of long-term loans in the Group’s consolidated

balance sheet is as follows: loans granted by non-

banking institutions account for 57% (38.5  bil-

lion roubles), bonds for 29% (19.4 billion rou-

bles), and bank credits for 14% (9.5 billion rou-

bles).

The record high financial results of the

Company’s performance in 2000 enabled it to

achieve a substantial increase in the size of divi-

dends paid to shareholders. For the third year

running, LUKOIL has paid the most dividends of

all Russian companies. Dividends projected to be

paid for the accounting period (payable in 2001)

totaling 10.6 billion roubles include 6.0 billion

roubles due to common shareholders and 4.6

billion roubles to preference shareholders. For

information.: dividends paid for 1999 totaled 3.6

billion roubles. 

Objectives and prospects for 2001 

The current favourable market situation is, very

beneficial, but it cannot in itself solve the range

of complicated problems and challenges faced

by the Company. Pursuing large-scale long-term

development strategies to achieve sustainable

growth rates requires untiring efforts on the part

of management and personnel of LUKOIL .

Actions and programmes have to be implement-

ed to stop rising and reduce costs, integrate

existing and newly acquired production facilities

and introduce uniform LUKOIL corporate stan-

dards of planning, budgeting and financial con-

trol in all the Group’s enterprises. In 2001, the

Company plans to implement several major

investment projects: effecting the second stage

in the upgrading of the Volgograd Refinery, com-

pleting  the construction of the Caspian Pipeline,

accelerating exploration work in the Timan-

Pechora oil and gas province, continuing geo-

logical surveying in the licensed Caspian Sea

areas, building the Urals–Centre petroleum

product pipeline etc.

These and other projects, if implemented, will

enhance the Company’s sustainability and

ensure competitive profitability, not only given

high world prices for oil, but also in a less favor-

able cyclical situation. 
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The management of LUKOIL confirms its responsibility for the preparation of the consolidated

financial statements of the Group of companies as part of the Statement of Income and the Balance

Sheet, as well as the footnotes and explanations of individual items, their completeness and reliabil-

ity. The financial statements were prepared in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations

governing accounting procedures in the Russian Federation.

The financial statements of OAO LUKOIL, its subsidiaries and affiliated companies underwent an

independent audit for compliance with the regulatory system governing accounting procedures in

the Russian Federation and foreign countries where the companies of the LUKOIL Group are regis-

tered and operate. LUKOIL’s independent auditor, approved at the annual meeting of shareholders,

is the international company KPMG. 

Independent auditors conducted field tests and had access to the financial and other documents

needed to gain sufficient confidence that the financial statements prepared by OAO LUKOIL, its sub-

sidiaries and affiliated companies comply with the requirements of Russian and foreign legislation

and contain no material misstatements. 

After the audits were completed, appropriate conclusions were provided to the management of

LUKOIL confirming the accuracy of the given financial statements of subsidiaries and affiliated com-

panies, and its compliance with rules governing accounting procedures.

The companies of the LUKOIL Group have an operating system of internal financial control.

These services establish regular control over compliance with the accounting procedures, proper and

correct records of transactions in the accounting books, the protection of property and other assets

from unauthorised use.

Pursuant to the Federal Programme for Accounting Reform, approved by the  Government of the

Russian Federation in March 1998, a stage-by-stage drafting and introduction of new national

accounting regulations (standards) is being implemented in Russia on the basis of the International

Accounting Standards. Under the 1998-2000 programme, twelve Accounting Regulations, which

incorporate principal international requirements, have been drafted and introduced. 

Since 1 January 2001, a new chart of accounts for financial and business activities of commercial

entities has been in effect in the Russian Federation and it has been used as the basis for domestic

enterprises of the LUKOIL Group.  

Vagit ALEKPEROV Lyubov KHOBA

President Vice-President,

Head of Main Department for

Financial Accounting and Control 

18 May 2001 

THE LUKOIL MANAGEMENT’S OPINION ON THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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KPMG has audited the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as of 31 December 2000 and

Statement of Income for 2000 (hereinafter: “Financial Statements”) of the open joint-stock compa-

ny LUKOIL Oil Company (hereinafter: LUKOIL) and its subsidiaries and affiliated companies (here-

inafter: the “Group”). The LUKOIL management is responsible for the preparation of these consoli-

dated Financial Statements and their conformity to the regulations governing accounting and report-

ing in the Russian Federation. Our responsibility is to express our opinion of these Financial

Statements on the basis of our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Provisional Audit Regulations in the Russian

Federation approved by Decree No. 2263 of the President of the Russian Federation of 

22 December 1993, as well as in accordance with audit standards (principles) approved by the

Audit Commission on Audit Activity under the President of the Russian Federation. The audit

was planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance, that the Financial Statements are

free of material misstatement. The audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence support-

ing the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements. We believe that our audit provides

a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the Financial Statements included in this Report present fairly, in all material

respects, the assets and liabilities of the Group as of 31 December 2000 and its financial results of its

operations for 2000, in conformity with the standard regulatory documents governing accounting

and reporting in the Russian Federation. 

Alexander ANTONOV

Director, KPMG

18 May 2001 

AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the LUKOIL Shareholders 
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For the years ended 31 December Note 2000 1999 

Net revenues 13 405,936 268,207

Cost of sales 14 (247,206) (202,076)

Gross profit 158,730 66,131

Selling expenses (27,155) (11,777)

Administrative expenses (12,610) (5,467)

Operating profit 118,965 48,887

Interest income 2,856 762

Interest expense 17 (5,367) (2,336)

Dividends and returns  on investments 2,522 1,692

Non-operating revenues and expenses, net 11 (581) (6,560)

Non-recurring gains and losses, net 11 (8,818) (3,993)

Earnings from affiliated equity interests 20 3,036 1,884

Income before taxation 112,613 40,336

Income taxes 8 (16,181) (9,541)

Extraordinary gains and losses, net 2 –

Net income (excluding minority interest) 96,434 30,795

For information:

Net income of the Group 102,540 31,653

Minority interest in the net income of the Group 6,106 858

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME  

In millions of roubles
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As of 31 December Note 2000 1999  

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 17,998 9,937

Marketable securities 6 32,214 18,644

Accounts and notes receivable 9 79,989 59,439

Inventories 5 19,293 15,188

Deferred charges and other current assets 2,138 960

T o t a l  current assets 151,632 104,168

Fixed assets

Property, plant and equipment (tangible assets), net 7 90,763 69,301

Property, plant and equipment (intangible assets), net 7 10,929 5,637

Construction in progress 38,401 18,253

Long-term investments and other non-current assets 6 46,414 30,042

T o t a l  fixed assets 186,507 123,233

T O T A L  ASSETS 338,139 227,401

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings 16 14,517 7,616

Accounts and notes payable 10 71,922 68,889

Deferred income and other current liabilities 11,082 1,743

T o t a l  current liabilities 97,521 78,248

Long-term liabilities

Long-term credits and loans 16 67,381 64,872

Other long-term liabilities 7,376 3,681

T o t a l  long-term liabilities 74,757 68,553

Goodwill 872 993

Minority interest in shareholders’ equity of the Group 8,775 3,924

Shareholders’ equity

Stock capital 20 20

Additional capital 70,382 57,338

Retained earnings and reserves 85,812 18,325

T o t a l shareholders’ equity 156,214 75,683

T O T A L  LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 338,139 227,401

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

In millions of roubles
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Note 1

ACTIVITIES OF LUKOIL

LUKOIL is the largest Russian vertically-integrat-

ed oil company, composed in accordance with

the resolutions of the Russian governmental

authorities.

Initially LUKOIL was established from enter-

prises in the national oil industry, control-

ling interests of which were acquired from

the government in the process of privatisa-

tion and transformation into joint-stock

companies.

The Group subsequently expanded substantially

through acquisitions of new companies and

establishing new businesses and firms both in

Russia and abroad.

Companies with interests of LUKOIL are

engaged in all main sectors of the modern oil

business, including exploration and production

of crude oil and natural gas, supplies, refining,

marketing, transportation, petrochemicals and

oil-related activities.

Subsidiaries and affiliates of LUKOIL perform

production, financing and investing activities in

more than 40 regions of Russia and 25 countries

on 4 continents of the world.

The consumer base of LUKOIL comprises over

5 million constant customers - individuals,

businesses and governmental agencies.

Note 2

EXTERNAL CONDITIONS OF THE BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

The major portion of the producing activities

of LUKOIL is exercised in the Russian

Federation. The country experiences funda-

mental changes dealing with the entire

restructuring of political and economic insti-

tutions. The circumstance appears to be mate-

rial when conducting business activities and

inherits a number of risks unusual for steady

states and economies.

Note 3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1. Accounting standards

The consolidated financial statements of

LUKOIL have been prepared in conformity

with Russian statutory accounting rules and

regulations. 

Financial statistics are reported in current prices

in accordance with accounting policies, national

accounting rules, and the organisational struc-

ture applicable to the year.

In 2000, no material changes were introduced

in the Russian accounting standards or in the

Company’s accounting policy that could have

had a significant effect on the comparability of

the data published in this report. The devia-

tions that did occur were mainly due to the

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



format of financial statements and the classifi-

cation of individual items. 

All the data in the financial statements, unless

otherwise specified, is shown on an accrual

basis. 

When preparing consolidated financial state-

ments and notes thereto, estimates, judgements

and assumptions were used, which manage-

ment believes are the best possible to give a fair

and reliable presentation of the financial results

and the financial position of the Group. Actual

results may differ from such estimates due to a

number of uncertainties involved in business

activities.

Financial statements of overseas subsidiaries

and affiliates have been prepared under appli-

cable accounting standards of the countries

where they were registered and/or conduct

their businesses. For consolidation purposes,

the financial statements have been trans-

formed and converted into the Russian curren-

cy in accordance with the requirements of

Russian legislation. 

Management of LUKOIL believes that the

existing differences in applicable accounting

standards were eliminated as far as possible

and the financial statements of subsidiaries

and affiliates were unified to accounting

policies of the Group during the preparation

and consolidation of the financial state-

ments. 

The accompanying financial statements and

supporting materials are the responsibility of the

management of LUKOIL.

3.2. Consolidation principles 

The consolidated financial statements of

LUKOIL include significant subsidiaries and affil-

iates which have a material effect on the finan-

cial results and position of the Group.

The figures in the statements of consolidated

subsidiaries, in which LUKOIL’s effective inter-

est is in excess of 50% of the voting shares in

case of a joint-stock company or over 50% of

the charter capital in case of a limited liability

company, are included in full in the Group’s

data, less the interest of minority shareholders

in the net income item in the income statement

and in the shareholders’ equity item in the bal-

ance sheet. 

The activities of affiliated companies in which

LUKOIL’s effective interest ranges from 20 to

50%  are shown in the consolidated financial

statements according to the equity accounting

method (with a proportional share in the net

income of these companies included in the con-

solidated statement of income). 

The activities of companies in which LUKOIL’s

interest is 20% or less are shown in the consoli-

dated financial statements at actual costs in the

financial investment and dividends items of the

balance sheet and the income statement, respec-

tively. 

The companies of the Group whose activities

(banking financing, insurance, etc.) differ mate-

rially from core businesses of LUKOIL are

accounted for under the equity method or at

cost, regardless of actual interest whether con-

trolled or not.
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The basic principles of consolidated financial

statements include the following adjustments:

• completely eliminating balances involved in

settlements between the parent Company and

the subsidiaries and those among the subsidiaries,

as well as transactions within the Group, includ-

ing revenues, expenses and dividends;

• eliminating the book value of investments

made by the parent Company into each sub-

sidiary, and the share in the equity of each sub-

sidiary owned by the Company;

• completely eliminating unrealised profits

resulting from intra-Group operations, included

in the book value of assets, such as inventories

and fixed assets;

• computing the interest of minority sharehold-

ers in net income of consolidated subsidiaries for

the accounting period and using it to adjust net

income of the Group, which is attributable to

LUKOIL’s shareholders;

• reporting the interest of minority shareholders

in net assets of consolidated subsidiaries as an

individual item, taken separately from the

Group’s equity attributable to LUKOIL’s share-

holders.

Classification of subsidiaries by business seg-

ments for the purposes of the consolidated

financial statements is determined in accordance

with their charter activities and the operating

revenues. The major portion of operating rev-

enues of LUKOIL (the parent company which

conducts its own business) results from activities

relating to the refining and supply of crude and

petroleum products. Its financial statements are

classified into the segment of refining, marketing

and transportation.

Classification of subsidiaries by geographic

(regional) areas is in accordance with their place

of legal registration and/or place of conducting

business.

3.3. Recognition of revenues 

Operating revenues are recognised when the

title to the product (commodity) has been trans-

ferred to a buyer or a customer has accepted the

work (service).

Revenues via non-cash payments (barter trans-

actions, promissory notes etc.) are recognised on

terms of contractual agreements.

3.4. Costs and expenses 

Costs and expenses are accounted for in accor-

dance with the regulatory rules effective in the

Russian Federation, including instructions set by

the industry ministries.

Costs and expenses are generally accounted 

for in conformity with the matching concept.

Cost to maintain producing assets, including

substantial capital repairs is expensed as

incurred.

Expenditures on restoration of wells and on

enhanced recovery techniques are expensed as

incurred.



Expenditures relating to the acquisition  of rights

to explore and develop fields, and to exploration

activities are capitalised as a rule, regardless of

the results of exploration.

3.5. Taxes and deductions to non-budget 

state funds

Taxes and deductions to non-budget state funds

are recognised on the basis of effective legisla-

tion, implying taxable rates, and applicable pro-

cedures set in the reporting period (financial

accounting).

For the purpose of tax reporting to the budget

and non-budget state funds, the cash basis of tax

recognition (fiscal accounting) is used.

Income taxation for financial and fiscal account-

ing is determined on a cash basis.

3.6. Depreciation, depletion and amortisation

|Depreciation is computed on a straight-line

method basis over estimated lifetimes of assets.

Intangible assets are amortised by estimated use-

ful lives, but not less than one year. 

Business reputation, or goodwill, is capitalised

and amortised using the straight-line method

over an estimated lifetime, which should not

exceed 20 years. 

The negative goodwill is proportionally written

off over 20 years into financial results and is

included in the non-operating revenues.

Land-lease rights and non-profitable assets are

not depreciated (amortised).

Depletion (depreciation of assets pro rata to out-

put) is used by international companies of

LUKOIL engaged in exploration and production.

3.7. Debt service expenses

Interest expense on loans and credits received

for investment programmes may be capitalised

before the commissioning of the projects.

Other interests are included in the interest

expense item of the income statement. 

3.8. Marketable securities 

and long-term investments

Marketable securities and long-term investments

are generally recorded at cost of acquisition.

The book value of securities, which are regularly

quoted at stock exchanges and have public quo-

tations, is reduced to the market price if the lat-

ter is below carrying value. The decrease in value

is charged to the allowances for securities deval-

uation.

3.9. Inventories 

Inventories are generally valued at acquisition

cost. Inventories are written off to cost of goods

produced on an average cost method. Other

methods of accounting may be used by interna-

tional companies of the Group. The differences
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in accounting methods did not affect materially

the results of the Group.

3.10. Property, plant and equipment,

and intangible assets 

Property, plant and equipment (tangible assets)

of the Russian subsidiaries of LUKOIL include

producing and non-producing assets with an

estimated lifetime greater than one year and per

unit acquisition cost of no less than 100-fold

minimum wages as set by the governmental

agencies. Assets are not subject for reclassifica-

tion if the minimum wage changes.

Intangible assets include rights, in particular real

estate and land-lease rights, royalties, patents,

licences, know-how, software and similar copy-

rights, exclusive rights and privileges, trade-

marks, expenses incurred when establishing

legal entities, and goodwill.

3.11. Credit and loan liabilities 

Short and long-term financial borrowings are

recorded including any interest due at the date

of the balance sheet.

Long-term loans and credits include amounts

payable within 12 months from the accounting

date (current portion of long-term debt). 

3.12. Currency translation 

The Russian rouble is the reporting currency of the

consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Financial statements of foreign subsidiaries and

affiliates of LUKOIL are converted into the

reporting currency at exchange rates set by the

Russian Central Bank. Differences which occur

as a result of translation are recorded as addi-

tional capital.

Since 2000 exchange gains and losses from oper-

ations in foreign currencies are charged to non-

recurring gains and losses (before 2000

exchange gains and losses were recorded in non-

operating revenues and expenses).

3.13. Restructuring and main organisational

changes of the consolidated Group 

In 2000, the consolidated Group of LUKOIL

changed following acquisitions, restructuring,

sales and abandonment of businesses. 

In the consolidated statements for 2000, ZAO

KomiArcticOil and OAO RITEK changed their

category of an affiliated company to a subsidiary,

owing to an increase in the interests in them up

to the controlling stake (100% and 50.6%,

respectively). 

The following subsidiary and affiliated compa-

nies – OAO LK-Leasing, OOO LUKOIL-

Arkhangelsk, ZAO RITEK-Vnedreniye, ZAO RITEK-

Trading, OOO LUKOIL-Kaliningradnefteprodukt,

OAO LUKOIL-Bunkering Company, ZAO

SeverTEK, OOO Permneftegazpererabotka, and

ZAO Oilpump – are included in the consolidated

statements for 2000 in accordance with the signif-

icance of their input in the performance of the

Group as a whole and their influence on its finan-

cial position. 



LUKOIL International GmbH increased its

interest in OAO LUKOIL Odessa Refinery up to

97.2%. This has been reflected in the consoli-

dated statements of the Group since the date of

acquisition. 

LUKOIL International GmbH acquired 72% of

shares in Getty Petroleum Marketing Inc. (U.S.)

The financial statements of the latter have been

included in the Group’s consolidated statements

since the date of acquisition. 

The consolidated statements of the Group for

2000 include reports of 65 subsidiary (includ-

ing holding companies) and 18 affiliated com-

panies. 

The consolidated statements of LUKOIL

International GmbH for 2000 include reports of

100 subsidiary and affiliated companies. 

The consolidated statements of LUKOIL

Overseas Holding, Ltd. for 2000 include reports

of 28 subsidiary and 2 affiliated companies. 

The consolidated statements of LUKARCO B.V.

for 2000 include reports of 5 subsidiaries. 

3.14. Material events after the date 

of the consolidated financial statements 

After the consolidated financial statements of

the Group had been compiled, some events

occurred that may have a certain effect on its

future financial results and positions. 

The State Oil company of the Azerbaijan

Republic (SOCAR) and LUKOIL signed an

agreement on rehabilitation, prospecting,

development and production sharing

(50/50%) for a block including the Zykh and

Govsany oil fields. LUKOIL was appointed

operator of the project. 

LUKOIL International GmbH increased its inter-

est in Getty Petroleum Marketing Inc. (U.S.) up to

100%.

The effective interest of the Group in the charter

capital of ZAO LUKOIL-Perm rose to 73%.

LUKOIL-Perm, a subsidiary of the Group,

enlarged its interests in charter capitals of the

following subsidiary and affiliated companies,

so that the interest in Kamaneft reached 100%;

RTK - 55%; VATOIL - 100%, Volgodeminoil -

50%; and Maikorskoye - 100%.

The effective interest of the Group in the charter

capital of TEBUKneft went up from 18% to 45%

of voting shares. 

The effective interest of the Group in the charter

capital of Permneftegazpererabotka grew to

100% of voting shares. 

On 30 March 2001, the exchange of LUKOIL

shares for Arkhangelskgeoldobycha shares was

completed. Following the exchange, the interest

of the Group in the latter’s charter capital

amounted  to 74.1%. 

An additional issue of shares by the Severnaya

Neft company resulted in the Group’s interest

in its charter capital dropping from 25% to

2.5%. The Group has brought court cases at var-

ious levels against the decision to issue addi-
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tional shares. At the moment, the outcome of

the proceedings cannot be predicted with any

certainty. 

The Company management believes that the sig-

nificant events that occurred since the consoli-

dated financial statements had been compiled

will not have any adverse effect on the future

Group’s performance as a whole and would not

change any assessments and judgements made

in these statements. 

3.15.  Commitments and contingencies

As of the accounting date there are some con-

ditional events in the economic activity, the

consequences of which and their occurrence in

future are uncertain, that is the consequences

may arise depending on whether one or sever-

al events take place in future. These condition-

al factors include, above all, guarantees or

other collateral, which have been issued in

favor of third parties prior to the accounting

date and the maturity dates for which have not

yet come; court proceedings in progress; obli-

gations with respect to environmental protec-

tion and others.

As of 31 December 2000 OAO LUKOIL (the

Group’s parent company) issued guarantees in

favor of third parties worth 433 million roubles.

The Company management believes that the

likelihood of loss to be incurred with respect to

these obligations is insignificant.

As of 31 December 2000 the Group had several

obligations to finance various investment pro-

grammes. The figures for most significant invest-

ment obligations are presented in roubles at the

exchange rate as of the consolidated statements

date. They include:

• construction of oil tankers – 2.1 billion rou-

bles;

• investing in development of oil fields in the

Caspian Sea area – 26.5 billion roubles;

• financing programmes to upgrade and mod-

ernise refineries in Central and Eastern Europe –

9.9 billion roubles.



Note 4

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The rouble denominated cash position of

the Group as of the end of the accounting

period is illustrated in the table below. Bank

accounts include rouble and foreign curren-

cy accounts. Other cash and cash equivalents

include bank deposits (up to 3 months of

maturity), letters of credit and open checks

issued. 

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Cash on hand 48 46

Cash with bank accounts 12,264 6,656

Other cash and cash equivalents 5,686 3,235

T o t a l  cash and cash equivalents 17,998 9,937

Cash and cash equivalents by the currency type

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Russian roubles 5,350 5,359

Foreign currencies 12,648 4,578

T o t a l  cash and cash equivalents 17,998 9,937

Note 5

INVENTORIES 

The main component of the Group’s invento-

ries are crude oil and petroleum products

stored within own facilities, or at transporta-

tion companies. Inventories of crude oil and

petroleum products are accounted for at

actual production cost, excluding general

expenses. Petroleum and other products at

wholesale and retail outlets are generally

accounted for at their purchase cost (cost of

acquisition). 

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Crude oil and products 7,520 7,764

Work-in-process 1,058 1,148

Other inventories 10,715 6,276

T o t a l  inventories 19,293 15,188

Note 6

MARKETABLE SECURITIES AND LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

Marketable securities and long-term investments

are stated at cost of acquisition and include

investment in shares, bonds, other securities,

bank deposits, own shares purchased from share-

holders and other expenditures with a term of

one year and over respectively.

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Marketable securities 

Bank deposits 13,887 2,952

Investment in securities 

(including own shares) 13,848 13,995

Other investments 4,479 1,697

T o t a l  marketable securities 32,214 18,644

Long-term investments 

Investment in affiliates 5,017 2,366

Investment in securities 9,058 5,622

Bank deposits 209 603

Equity project finance 23,363 15,577

Other long-term investments 7,449 5,857

Other non-current assets 1,318 17

T o t a l  long-term investments 46,414 30,042
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Note 7

TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Oil-related operations of the Group are essen-

tially capital-intensive productions. A substantial

proportion of property, plant and equipment

consists of oil and gas properties and production

facilities. The table below represents gross and

net book value of tangible and intangible assets

of the Group. Classification of property, plant

and equipment of the Group as disclosed in the

table conforms with Russian legislation. Tangible

assets are stated at cost adjusted for revaluations

subsequent to their acquisitions. 

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Tangible assets 

Tangible assets at cost 174,306 143,790

Accumulated depreciation and depletion (83,543) (74,489)

Net tangible assets 90,763 69,301

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets at cost 12,192 5,870

Accumulated amortisation (1,263) (233)

Net intangible assets 10,929 5,637

Tangible assets by classes (at cost)

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Buildings 11,544 12,362

Construction facilities 92,136 75,708

Machinery and equipment 50,613 37,068

Means of transport 11,019 6,911

Other assets 8,994 11,741

T o t a l  tangible assets 174,306 143,790

Including: 

producing 168,646 138,409

non-producing 5,660 5,381

Intangible assets by classes (at cost)

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Rights to the use of natural resources 124 29

Other rights, patents and licences 1,763 904

Organisational expenses 180 38

Goodwill 9,802 4,404

Other intangible assets 323 495

T o t a l  intangible assets 12,192 5,870

Movement of tangible assets and intangible assets (at cost)

In millions of roubles

Changes in 2000 Tangible Intangible 

assets assets

As of 31 December 1999 143,790 5,870

Net result of revaluation 

and organisational changes 6,170 267

As of 1 January 2000 149,960 6,137

Additions in 2000 29,255 6,822

Disposition in 2000 (4,909) (767)

As of 31 December 2000 174,306 12,192

Leased out and rented tangible assets, and  property under

pledge (at cost)

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Tangible assets leased out 4,068 4,956

Tangible assets under lease 1,597 1,388

Assets under pledge 3,180 975



Note 8

TAXES AND DEDUCTIONS TO NON-BUDGET STATE FUNDS 

LUKOIL and its subsidiaries are payers of all

taxes and state duties relating to their activi-

ties as set by the Russian legislation and regu-

lations of foreign countries where the consoli-

dated companies of LUKOIL conduct their

business.

The tables below show data regarding accrued

taxes and similar state duties.

Value-added tax includes a refundable portion,

being VAT paid to suppliers and contractors and

offsetable in the reporting period.

Mineral replacement tax includes both amount

due to the budget and amount retained at the

disposal of LUKOIL subsidiaries to finance explo-

ration expenditure.

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999 

Taxes 

Value-added tax 48,534 23,555

Excises 9,642 3,723

Royalty and MR deductions 18,491 9,542

Income taxes 16,181 9,541

Export duties 16,592 3,807

Local and regional taxes 3,227 2,334

Other taxes and duties 1,527 749

T o t a l  taxes 114,194 53,251

Deductions to non-budget state funds

Deductions to road funds 7,609 3,242

Deductions to social funds 6,478 2,712

Total deductions to state funds 14,087 5,954

Settlements with budgets and non-budget state
funds

The Group’s current accounts payable and

receivable in respect of tax payments are shown

in the table below.  

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Settlements with budgets 

Accounts receivable 9,536 2,924

Accounts payable 7,838 11,029

Settlements with non-budget state funds 

Accounts receivable 156 524

Accounts payable 1,329 2,189

Income taxes

Increased or decreased sum of the taxable income

depends on the adjustments made to the estimat-

ed amounts of costs exceeding the established

standards, exchange rate differences, income and

expense involved in the movement of assets, cap-

ital investment allowances, and individual types of

expenditures and costs.

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999 

Income before taxation (as reported) 112,613 40,336

Income adjusted for taxation (3,425) (5,200)

Income for taxation purposes 109,188 35,136

Increase of taxable income 6,604 9,296

Decrease of taxable income (51,514) (14,661)

Taxable income 64,278 29,771

Corporate income tax 14,960 8,079

Other income-related taxes 1,221 1,462

T o t a l  income taxes 16,181 9,541

Actual income tax  as percentage of:

Income before taxation 14.4 23.6

Taxable income 25.2 32.0
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Note 9

ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

Accounts and notes receivable include value-

added tax paid on purchases and subject to

refund, the value of shipped but not yet paid

goods and services at selling prices including VAT

and similar selling taxes, notes receivable,

advances paid, settlements with affiliated com-

panies, and other accounts not mentioned

above. Accounts receivable are stated net of pro-

visions for doubtful accounts.

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Due over one year 

Trade accounts receivable 1,606 3,690

Notes receivable 101 85

Settlements with affiliated companies 20 21

Advances paid 1,008 106

Other accounts receivable 6,204 359

T o t a l  due over one year  8,939 4,261

Due less than on year

Trade accounts receivable 37,866 29,539

Notes receivable 626 1,496

Settlements with affiliated companies 1,311 830

Advances paid 6,230 2,530

Other accounts receivable 12,748 13,490

T o t a l  due less than one year 58,781 47,885

VAT refundable 12,269 7,293

T o t a l  accounts and notes receivable 79,989 59,439

Note 10 

ACCOUNTS AND NOTES PAYABLE 

Accounts and notes payable include accounts

payable to suppliers and contractors, liabilities

secured by notes, advances received, settlements

with affiliated companies and other liabilities

not mentioned above.

In millions of roubles 

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Trade accounts payable 48,786 37,761

Notes payable 354 996

Advances received 1,204 1,564

Settlements with affiliated companies 1,446 5,189

Other accounts payable 20,132 23,379

T o t a l  accounts and notes payable 71,922 68,889

Note 11

NON-OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES, 

NON-RECURRING GAINS AND LOSSES

Tables below show major non-operating rev-

enues and expenses and non-recurring gains and

losses. 

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999 

Non-operating revenues and expenses 

Foreign exchange gains – 5,428

Foreign exchange losses – (9,833)

Local and regional taxes (3,227) (2,334)

Other items, net 2,646 179

Non operating revenues and expenses (581) (6,560)

Non-recurring gains and losses 

Foreign exchange gains 5,145 –

Foreign exchange losses (4,449) –

Written-off debts, net (2,419) (479)

Income and loss of prior years, net (1,120) 277

Provisions for securities devaluation 

and convertible bonds premium (2,924)

Other items, net (3,051) (3,791)

Non-recurring gains and losses (8,818) (3,993)



Note 12

ALLOCATION OF PROFIT

Allocation of profit include cost, expenses and

expenditures charged to undistributed profit

or other shareholders’ funds. It comprises allo-

cation to investment funds, allocations to con-

sumption funds and maintenance of social

assets, charitable donations, an excess of inter-

est expense, repayment of the principal; book

value of social and related assets transferred

for free to local authorities, redemption of pre-

vious years losses, and other items. A list of

expenses under this item is specified in

accounting regulations. 

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999 

T o t a l  allocation of profit 29,687 16,196

Including:

Funds to be used for capital expenditure 15,943 4,791

Note 13

NET REVENUES 

The table below shows net revenues of the con-

solidated Group with a breakdown by major

products.

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999 

Net revenues 405,936 268,207

Including:

Crude oil and natural gas 177,549 112,647

Refined and petrochemical products 203,581 137,194

Other goods, works and services 24,806 18,366

Note 14

COST OF SALES

The table below discloses the major compo-

nents of the cost of sales in the consolidat-

ed statement of income of the Group. Cost

of sales includes the cost of purchases for

processing or subsequent marketing, as well

as the cost of production (costs of raw

materials, supplies, services, production

taxes, etc.) 

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999 

Cost of purchases 54,385 73,273

Cost of production 192,821 128,803

T o t a l  cost of sales 247,206 202,076

Note 15

DEPRECIATION, DEPLETION AND AMORTISATION

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation

included in the income statement comprise

the following:

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999 

Depreciation and depletion 8,349 6,283

Amortisation 1,019 64

Total depreciation, depletion and

amortisation 9,368 6,347

Of which charged to:

Cost of sales 9,222 6,126

Selling expenses 73 55

Administrative expenses 73 166
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Note 16

LONG-TERM CREDITS AND LOANS 

Group companies obtain long-term financing

mainly to fund investment and development

programmes. The composition of long-term

debt of LUKOIL as of December 31 1999 and

2000 is set out in the table below with a break-

down by kind of borrowing, interest rate, and

maturity. 

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Bank credits 9,462 20,672

Loans from non-banking institutions 38,503 25,540

Bonds 19,416 18,660

T o t a l  long-term credits and loans 67,381 64 872

Distribution of long-term credits and loans 
by nominal interest rates

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Up to 5% 17,194 16,321

From 5 to 10% 40,747 36,550

From 10 to 15% 4,109 5,658

15% and over 476 850

Floating and flexible rates 4,855 5,493

T o t a l  long-term credits and loans 67,381 64,872

Long-term credits and loans by expected maturity 

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 

Maturity in 2001 1,081

Maturity in 2001-2002 9,911

Maturity in 2001-2003 21,298

Maturity in 2001-2004 1,261

Maturity in 2001-2005 6,891

Maturity in 2001-2005 and later 26,939

T o t a l  long-term credits and loans 67,381

Short-term borrowings

Short-term borrowings are utilised by the Group

principally to finance export trading (prepay-

ment of transport fees, taxes and other prompt

expenses under short financing of importers),

and to provide working capital. 

In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Bank credits 10,075 4,185

Loans from non-banking institutions 4,442 3,431

T o t a l  short-term borrowings 14,517 7,616

Note 17

DEBT SERVICE EXPENSES

The table below contains information about

interest on credits and loans actually accrued

and shown in the books to determine financial

results and chargeable to various cost items. 

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999 

Debt service expenses 5,367 4,185

Of which charged to: 

Costs and expenses – 910

Interest expense 5,367 2,336

Net income – 939



Note 18

SELECTED COSTS AND EXPENSES 

Tables below contain information on certain

kinds of costs and expense, computed and

shown in the books to determine financial

results and chargeable to various items in the

financial statements. 

Wages and salaries

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999 

Wages and salaries 16,330 7,250

Other remuneration 278 132

T o t a l  wages and salaries 16,608 7,382

Of which charged to: 

Cost of sales 13,711 6,110

Selling expenses 729 382

Administrative expenses 1,441 514

Net income 727 376

Consulting services and financial audit expenses

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999

T o t a l  consulting services 832 352

Of which charged to:

Costs and expenses 638 306

Net income 194 46

Research and development 

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999

T o t a l R&D expenses 1,816 818

Of which charged to:

Costs and expenses 1,816 794

Net income – 24

Insurance charges (all kinds)

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999

Compulsory insurance 784 488

Voluntary insurance 2,423 442

T o t a l  insurance charges 3,207 930

Of which charged to:

Costs and expenses 3,207 862

Net income – 68

Pension benefit expenses 

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999

Russian state pension fund 4,216 1,974

Voluntary pension deductions 374 164

T o t a l  pension deductions 4,590 2,138

Of which charged to:

Costs and expenses 4,579 2,123

Net income 11 15
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In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999 1998 1997 

Sources of investing

Reinvested earnings 38,140 6,546 1,771 295

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 9,858 6,303 3,784 4,484

Refundable portion of mineral replacement deductions 3,953 2,663 929 990

Other own funds (including sale of shares) 3,071 1,491 1,112 984

Borrowings 9,205 14,194 10,583 3,891

T o t a l  capital expenditure and investments 64,227 31,197 18,179 10,644

Capital expenditure and investments by business segment 

Oil and gas exploration and production 43,577 16,594 10,218 7,826

Refining, marketing and transportation 20,344 14,351 7,949 2,770

Petrochemical production and other activities 306 252 12 48

T o t a l  capital expenditure and investments 64,227 31,197 18,179 10,644

Capital expenditure and investments by geographic areas

Western Siberia 17,004 6,338 3,778 5,333

Central Russia 23,610 17,912 4,332 4,065

Northern Russia 5,521 1,033 – –

International 18,092 5,914 10,069 1,246

T o t a l  capital expenditure and investments 64,227 31,197 18,179 10,644

Capital expenditure and investments com-

prise the following: capital expenditure

(investments in property, plant and equip-

ment), expenses on facilities recorded as con-

struction  in progress as of the end of the

accounting period; acquisition of intangible

assets and long-term financial investment,

including equity project financing.

Note 19

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INVESTMENTS
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Note 20

SUMMARY DATA ON AFFILIATED COMPANIES

Tables below contain data on the combined

financial statements of affiliated companies.

The reporting of the Group includes its share in

undistributed profit of affiliated companies.

Combined statement of income

In millions of roubles

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999

Total LUKOIL Total LUKOIL

Net revenues 36,728 15,253 35,944 12,151

Costs and expenses (27,836) (11,168) (28,584) (9,043)

Operating profit 8,892 4,085 7,360 3,108

Other profit (loss) (88) 2 1,040 (93)

Income before taxation 8,804 4,087 8,400 3,015

Income taxes (2,237) (1,051) (3,464) (1,131)

Net income 6,567 3,036 4,936 1,884

Combined balance sheet
In millions of roubles

As of 31 December 2000 1999

Total LUKOIL Total LUKOIL

Current assets 20,688 12,646 15,178 4,822

Fixed assets 5,461 2,610 7,592 3,235

T o t a l  assets 26,149 15,256 22,770 8,057

Current liabilities 16,893 10,870 11,422 3,891

Long-term liabilities 1,374 560 3,711 1,367

Shareholders' equity 7,882 3,826 7,637 2,799

T o t a l  liabilities and equity 26,149 15,256 22,770 8,057

The table below contains exchange rates of cur-

rencies, the share of which in revenues and set-

tlements of the consolidated Group (other than

denominated in rouble) exceeds 1% each. 

Note 21

EXCHANGE RATES 

Roubles per 1 currency unit (unless otherwise specified)

Exchange rates Average for the year As of 31 December

2000 1999 2000 1999 

U.S. dollar 28.16 27.00 28.12 24.60

Bulgarian lev 13.41 13.85 13.26 13.37

Kazakh tenghe (per 100) 19.36 19.51 19.77 21.04

Ukrainian hrivna (per 10) 51.08 49.09 51.36 56.96
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For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999 

Net revenues

Oil and gas exploration and production 101,012 70,612

Refining, marketing and transportation 398,147 235,096

Petrochemical production 

and other lines of business 16,199 9,818

(intersegment elimination) (109,422) (47,319)

T O T A L  LUKOIL 405,936 268,207

Western Siberia 70,395 33,994

Central Russia 296,489 138,997

Northern Russia 12,946 8,920

International 218,702 114,191

(interarea elimination) (192,596) (27,895)

T O T A L  LUKOIL 405,936 268,207

Operating profit

Oil and gas exploration and production 28,849 22,062

Refining, marketing and transportation 89,810 26,822

Petrochemical production 

and other lines of business 616 253

(intersegment elimination) (310) (250)

TOTAL LUKOIL 118,965 48,887

Western Siberia 16,395 14,214

Central Russia 92,613 28,919

Northern Russia 4,502 4,416

International 4,737 1,514

(interarea elimination) 718 (176)

T O T A L  LUKOIL 118,965 48,887

For the years ended 31 December 2000 1999 

Income before taxation

Oil and gas exploration and production 31,932 20,118

Refining, marketing and transportation 76,270 18,160

Petrochemical production 

and other lines of business 530 179

Earnings of affiliates and adjustments 3,881 1,879

T O T A L  LUKOIL 112,613 40,336

Western Siberia 16,816 10,729

Central Russia 87,386 24,687

Northern Russia 4,011 3,376

International 3,123 (351)

Earnings of affiliates and adjustments 1,277 1,895

T O T A L  LUKOIL 112,613 40,336

Net income

Oil and gas exploration and production 26,220 14,417

Refining, marketing and transportation 65,950 14,411

Petrochemical production 

and other lines of business 381 88

Earnings of affiliates and adjustments 3,883 1,879

T O T A L  LUKOIL 96,434 30,795

Western Siberia 13,005 7,608

Central Russia 75,768 19,983

Northern Russia 3,156 2,102

International 3,228 (492)

Earnings of affiliates and adjustments 1,277 1,594

T O T A L  LUKOIL 96,434 30,795

Note 22

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL INDICATORS BY BUSINESS SEGMENTS AND GEOGRAPHIC AREAS 

In millions of roubles
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As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Total assets

Oil and gas exploration and production 154,565 108,722

Refining, marketing and transportation 200,434 131,411

Petrochemical production 

and other lines of business 11,734 4,643

(intersegment elimination) (28,594) (17,375)

T O T A L  LUKOIL 338,139 227,401

Western Siberia 66,872 49,205

Central Russia 168,016 110,663

Northern Russia 23,794 20,750

International 117,976 87,379

(interarea elimination) (38,519) (40,596)

T O T A L  LUKOIL 338,139 227,401

Tangible and intangible assets (at cost) 

Oil and gas exploration and production 113,306 100,474

Refining, marketing and transportation 71,378 50,461

Petrochemical production 

and other lines of business 1,813 1,453

(intersegment elimination) 1 (2,728)

T O T A L  LUKOIL 186,498 149,660

Western Siberia 66,621 59,234

Central Russia 55,282 43,541

Northern Russia 16,689 13,716

International 47,906 35,845

(interarea elimination) 0 (2,676)

T O T A L  LUKOIL 186,498 149,660

As of 31 December 2000 1999 

Long-term liabilities

Oil and gas exploration and production 40,316 30,368

Refining, marketing and transportation 43,305 43,569

Petrochemical production 

and other lines of business 1,446 219

(intersegment elimination) (10,310) (5,603)

T O T A L  LUKOIL 74,757 68,553

Western Siberia 2,298 2,485

Central Russia 14,609 16,224

Northern Russia 8,385 4,015

International 57,120 45,933

(interarea elimination) (7,655) (104)

T O T A L  LUKOIL 74,757 68,553

DDA charges (for the years ended 31 December)

Oil and gas exploration and production 6,171 5,252

Refining, marketing and transportation 3,137 1,048

Petrochemical production 

and other lines of business 60 47

(intersegment elimination) 0 0

TOTAL LUKOIL 9,368 6,347

Western Siberia 3,993 3,320

Central Russia 2,410 1,594

Northern Russia 984 806

International 1,981 627

(interarea elimination) 0 0

T O T A L  LUKOIL 9,368 6,347

In millions of roubles
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OPERATING STATISTICS (unaudited)

Crude oil production (gas condensate included)

In thousands of tonnes

For the years ended December 31 2000 1999

total share total share 

Consolidated subsidiaries 69,227 66,114 65,975 63,929

Affiliated companies accounted for   3,988 2,743 5,417 2,935

using the equity method

Other companies in which LUKOIL has an interest 4,526 1,070 4,197 1,027

T O T A L  LUKOIL 77,741 69,927 75,589 67,891

Including:

Western Siberia 50,790 49,096 49,660 48,736

Central Russia 14,138 12,079 13,792 11,210

Northern Russia 10,743 6,682 10,379 6,187

T o t a l  Russia 75,671 67,857 73,831 66,133

International 2,070 2,070 1,758 1,758

Natural gas production (associated gas included)

In millions of cubic metres

For the years ended December 31 2000 1999

total share total share  

Consolidated subsidiaries 4,504 4,307 4,244 4,107

Affiliated companies accounted for 212 141 286 145

using the equity method

Other companies in which LUKOIL has an interest 297 141 194 99

T O T A L  LUKOIL 5,013 4,589 4,724 4,351

Including:

Western Siberia 2,224 2,189 2,232 2,197

Central Russia 1,395 1,180 1,268 1,109

Northern Russia 648 474 643 464

T o t a l  Russia 4,267 3,843 4,143 3,770

International 746 746 581 581
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Drilling

In thousands of metres

For the years ended December 31 2000 1999

exploration development exploration development

Consolidated subsidiaries 321 1,291 247 664

Affiliated companies accounted for   20 144 15 144

using the equity method

Other companies in which LUKOIL has an interest 19 120 4 35

T O T A L  LUKOIL 360 1,555 266 843

Including:

Western Siberia 181 1,063 139 604

Central Russia 118 229 96 145

Northern Russia 40 203 13 52

T o t a l  Russia 339 1,495 248 801

International 21 60 18 42

Oil wells in operation

In units

As of December 31 2000 1999

total producing total producing 

Consolidated subsidiaries 25,272 21,218 24,061 19,616

Affiliated companies accounted for  580 513 850 746

using the equity method

Other companies in which LUKOIL has an interest 1,362 1,135 1,054 806

T O T A L  LUKOIL 27,214 22,866 25,965 21,168

Including:

Western Siberia 15,721 13,210 15,163 12,348

Central Russia 7,975 7,427 7,598 6,963

Northern Russia 3,242 1,992 2,954 1,652

T o t a l  Russia 26,938 22,629 25,715 20,963

International 276 237 250 205
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Refining and commercial output of petroleum products

In thousands of tonnes

For the years ended December 31 2000 1999 

LUKOIL’s refineries in Russia

Refining throughput 23,176 20,517

T o t a l  output of petroleum products 22,057 19,462

Including

motor gasoline 3,327 3,074

diesel fuel 6,357 5,749

jet fuel 1,071 1,170

fuel oil 5,028 4,682

lubricants 899 785

other petroleum products 5,375 4,002

LUKOIL’s refineries abroad

Refining throughput 8,992 8,526

T o t a l  output of petroleum products 8,509 8,099

Including

motor gasoline 1,944 1,801

diesel fuel 3,096 2,950

jet fuel 138 163

fuel oil 1,696 2,090

lubricants 0 7

other petroleum products 1,635 1,088

Installed refinery capacities

In thousands of tonnes

As of December 31 2000 1999 

LUKOIL’s refineries in Russia 30,077 30,077

LUKOIL’s refineries abroad 18,987 18,987

Actual utilisation of refining capacity, % 

LUKOIL’s refineries in Russia 77.0 68.2

LUKOIL’s refineries abroad 47.3 44.9
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Gas processing
In thousands of tonnes

For the years ended December 31 2000 1999

T o t a l  gas processing 1,417 1,181

T o t a l  output of products 1,270 1,030

Including:

liquefied gas 324 250

gas benzene 97 92

other products 849 688

Network of filling stations (excluding franchising)
In units

As of December 31 2000 1999

Russia 1,042 847

Republics of FSU  and European countries 253 177

U.S.A. 1,260 –

T O T A L  LUKOIL 2,555 1,024

Supplies of crude oil by the Group companies in 2000

In thousands of tonnes

Consolidated Affiliated  Other  LUKOIL  

subsidiaries companies companies t o t a l

Deliveries to refineries in Russia and Belarus 40,292 1,558 1,730 43,580

Including:

to refineries in Russia 38,880 1,388 1,351 41,619

of which:

LUKOIL’s own refineries 22,369 661 231 23,261

Independent and mini-refineries 16,511 727 1,120 18,358

Refineries in Belarus 1,412 170 379 1,961

Export sales 24,775 1,669 1,936 28,380

Other deliveries (for government needs included) 3,440 35 314 3,789

T o t a l  deliveries (excluding international) 68,507 3,262 3,980 75,749

In addition:

Sales  of crude oil from international production 1,080 701 284 2,065

Exports of Iraqi crude oil 362 – – 362
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OIL AND GAS RESERVES (national classification)

Recoverable oil reserves in Russia
In millions of tonnes

As of December 31 2000 1999

ABC1 С2 ABC1 С2

Consolidated subsidiaries 2,177 701 2,124 602

Affiliated companies accounted for using the equity method 87 16 164 80

Other companies in which LUKOIL has an interest 240 59 213 34

T O T A L  LUKOIL 2,504 776 2,501 716

Including:

Western Siberia 1,195 416 1,234 393

Central Russia 535 60 548 52

Northern Russia 774 300 719 271

Recoverable natural gas reserves in Russia
In billions of cubic metres

As of December 31 2000 1999

ABC1 C2 ABC1 C2

Consolidated subsidiaries 141 71 134 60

Affiliated companies accounted for using the equity method 5 1 16 7

Other companies in which LUKOIL has an interest 9 0 19 2

T O T A L  LUKOIL 155 72 169 69

Including:

Western Siberia 69 32 73 30

Central Russia 44 4 45 3

Northern Russia 42 36 51 36



LUKOIL’s oil and gas reserves evaluated by the standards of  U.S. Society of Petroleum Engineers

Oil – in millions of barrels; gas – in billions of cubic feet

As of December 31 2000 1999

oil gas oil gas

Western Siberia

I. Total Proved 8,212 1,191 8,437 1,268

1.1. Proved developed 5,329 786 5,059 759

1.2. Proved undeveloped 2,883 405 3,378 509

II. Probable 5,215 754 4,250 659

III. Possible 2,010 218 1,898 266

Central Russia

I. Total Proved 2,568 306 2,452 388

1.1. Proved developed 1,905 274 1,757 293

1.2. Proved undeveloped 663 32 695 95

II. Probable 329 28 268 52

III. Possible 299 57 195 47

Northern Russia

I. Total Proved 2,932 262 2,061 469

1.1. Proved developed 1,288 214 908 125

1.2. Proved undeveloped 1,644 48 1,153 344

II. Probable 784 15 796 243

III. Possible 2,131 5 1,431 866

T o t a l  Russia  

I. Total Proved 13,712 1,759 12,950 2,125

1.1. Proved developed 8,522 1,274 7,724 1,177

1.2. Proved undeveloped 5,190 485 5,226 948

II. Probable 6,328 797 5,314 954

III. Possible 4,440 280 3,524 1,179

Foreign countries

I. Total Proved 531 1,866 548 1,783

1.1. Proved developed 206 605 187 472

1.2. Proved undeveloped 325 1,261 361 1,311

II. Probable 185 301 258 310

III. Possible 249 172 375 205

T O T A L  LUKOIL

I. Total Proved 14,243 3,625 13,498 3,908

1.1. Proved developed 8,728 1,879 7,911 1,649

1.2. Proved undeveloped 5,515 1,746 5,587 2,259

II. Probable 6,513 1,098 5,572 1,264

III. Possible 4,689 452 3,899 1,384
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LUKOIL’s CHARTER CAPITAL

As of December 31 2000 1999 1998

Number of  shares % Number of  shares % Number of  shares %

Common shares 738,351,391 90.5 738,351,391 90.5 669,351,391 89.7

Preference shares 77,211,864 9.5 77,211,864 9.5 77,211,864 10.3

T O T A L 815,563,255 100.0 815,563,255 100.0 746,563,255 100.0

In addition

Authorized but not issued shares 18,600,000 – – – – –

DISTRIBUTION OF LUKOIL SHARES BY HOLDERS

As of December 31, 2000 Common shares Preference shares 

Number of  shares % Number of shares %

Individuals 14,481,838 2.0 12,456,622 16.1

Industrial and commercial companies 161,669,482 21.9 28,842,229 37.4

Commercial and investment banks 427,542,296 57.9 35,906,879 46.5

Pension and trust funds 19,998,423 2.7 5,098 0.0

Insurance companies 20,062 0.0 1,036 0.0

Russian Government 114,639,290 15.5 0 0.0

T O T A L  S H A R E S 738,351,391 100.0 77,211,864 100.0

LUKOIL’S  BIGGEST SHAREHOLDERS

Over 2 % of charter capital

As of December 31, 2000 Common shares Preference shares

Number of shares % Number of  shares %

Russian Government 114,639,290 15.5 0 0.0

Of which:

OAO Komprivatizatsiya 50,000,000 6.8 0 0.0

ING Bank (Eurasia)* 406,039,385 55.0 33,515,420 43.4

Including:

ADRs 384,362,460 52.1 33,515,420 43.4

GDRs 21,676,924 2.9 0 0.0

NIKoil depositary company* 45,521,796 6.2 14,976,868 19.4

National Depositary Center* 38,231,431 5.2 1,955,400 2.5

LUKOIL-Reserve-Invest 36,792,062 5.0 3,901,717 5.1

LUKOIL-GARANT (non-governmental pension fund) 19,970,446 2.7 0 0.0

* Nominee holder



CHANGES IN LUKOIL’S CHARTER CAPITAL

Year, placement, par value and class of shares New shares Shares as of December 31

1996

No changes (25 roubles par value)

• Common shares 0 649,551,391

• Preference shares 0 65,011,864

T o t a l  shares 0 714,563,255

1997

Fifth and sixth issues (25 roubles par value)

• Common shares 19,800,000 669,351,391

• Preference shares 12,200,000 77,211,864

T o t a l  shares 32,000,000 746,563,255

1998

No changes (0.025 denominated roubles par value)

• Common shares 0 669,351,391

• Preference shares 0 77,211,864

T o t a l  shares 0 746,563,255

1999

Seventh issue of preference convertible  shares

• Preference convertible shares (0.15 roubles par value) 11,500,000 –

Eighth issue of common shares

• Common  shares  (0.025 roubles par value) 69,000,000 –

Conversion of shares

1 convertible preference share = 6 common shares (11,500,000) –

Number of shares after conversion

• Common shares (0.025 roubles par value) 738,351,391 738,351,391

• Preference shares (0.025 roubles par value) 77,211,864 77,211,864

T o t a l  shares 815,563,255 815,563,255

2000

No changes (excluding 18.5 million shares authorized but not issued)

• Common shares – 738,351,391

• Preference shares – 77,211,864

T o t a l  shares – 815,563,255

77
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STOCK MARKET INFORMATION AND DIVIDEND HISTORY

Codes assigned to LUKOIL shares

TRADING AREAS Common shares Preference shares

Russian Trading System (RTS) LKOH LKOHP

Moscow Interbank Currency Exchange (MICEX) RU0009024277 RU0009046668

US over-the-counter market (US OTC) LUKOY LUKPY

Frankfurt Stock Exchange US6778621044 US6778623024

LUKOIL common share quotations in the Russian Trading System

2000 1999

Per share Minimum Maximum Minimum Maximum

$ $ $ $

1st quarter 9.9 17.1 3.5 7.8

2nd quarter 11.2 15.9 6.0 10.7

3rd quarter 12.4 16.8 6.2 11.4

4th quarter 7.9 15.6 6.8 13.0

LUKOIL preference share quotations in the Russian Trading System

2000 1999

Per share Minimum Maximum Minimum Maximum

$ $ $ $

1st quarter 5.2 9.0 1.4 3.2

2nd quarter 7.8 11.5 2.2 4.1

3rd quarter 10.1 12.3 2.1 4.5

4th quarter 7.9 11.7 2.8 5.9

ADR quotations on LUKOIL shares in 2000 (Frankfurt Stock Exchange) 

$ per ADR
1

Common shares Preference shares

Minimum Maximum Minimum Maximum

1st quarter 39.2 67.9 9.5 17.9

2nd quarter 44.6 64.8 15.0 24.1

3rd quarter 50.1 66.8 19.4 25.2

4th quarter 31.2 62.2 15.1 23.2

1
1 ADR on common shares represents 4 shares. 1 ADR on preference shares represents 2 shares



Dividend history 

In roubles per share

Years Dividend Dividend

per common share per preference share

Declared Adjusted Declared Adjusted

1994 (125 roubles par value) 500 0.10 500 0.10

1995 (25 roubles par value) 200 0.20 500 0.50

1996 (25 roubles par value) 300 0.30 1,000 1.00

1997 (25 roubles par value) 0.22 0.22 0.91 0.91

1998 (0.025 roubles par value) 0.25 0.25 2.67 2.67

1999 (0.025 roubles par value) 3.00 3.00 17.45 17.45

2000* (0.025 roubles par value) 8.00 8.00 59.16 59.16

* Dividend size recommended by LUKOIL’s Board of Directors to be approved at the Annual Meeting of the Shareholders on 28 July 2001.

The declared dividend is quoted on the corresponding year’s price scale, without adjustment for denomination.

The adjusted dividend is quoted for the comparable conditions of 2000 (par values and price scale).

Total amount of dividend payments*

In millions of roubles

Years Common shares Preference shares T O T A L  SHARES

1995 46 2 48

1996 130 32 162

1997 199 73 272

1998 147 70 217

1999 167 206 373

2000 2,215 1,347 3,562

2001** 6,054 4,568 10,622

* Data on dividends  are based on the total number of the actually floated  shares as of the date of making a list of the shareholders authorised to

take part in the Meeting of the Shareholders and to receive dividends as to the given year’s results.

**On the basis  of the dividend size recommended by LUKOIL’s Board of Directors to be approved by the Annual Meeting of the Shareholders 

on 28 June 2001.
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Legal address and Central Office address 

11 Sretensky boulevard, 101000 Moscow, Russia

Central Information Office

Phone/fax: (7-095) 927-4444, 928-9841

Telex: 612 553

Shareholder Relations Department 

Phone: (7-095) 927-4884

e-mail: shareholder@lukoil.com

Press service

Phone: (7-095) 927-1677

e-mail: pr@lukoil.com

Development and Investor Relations Department

Phone: (7-095) 927-1696

e-mail: investor@lukoil.com

LUKOIL Stock and Consulting Center 

24 ul. Petrovka, 103051 Moscow, Russia

Phone: (7-095) 200-7508

NIKoil Registrar Company 

8, ul. Pravdy, Block 45, 125124 Moscow, Russia

Phone: (7-095) 755-9077

LUKOIL websites

www.lukoil.ru (in Russian)

www.lukoil.com (in English)

Business offers are considered if submitted 

in writing  on a company letterhead by post or fax:  

(7-095) 916-00-20, 

927-49-99

The  Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held  at 12.00 on 28 June 2001 at:

93 Dom Kultury Tsaritsyn

ul. 40-letia VLKSM

Volgograd

Russian Federation

Registration will start  at 10 a.m.

This report has been prepared by LUKOIL’s Main Department for Development and Securities

Please send your comments and suggestions to 

11 Sretensky boulevard, 101000 Moscow, Russia

Phone: (7-095) 927-4885

Fax: (7-095) 927-1662

e-mail: shareholder@lukoil.com or investor@lukoil.com

Designed and prepared for printing by JSC LUKOIL Inform Design Center.

Printed by Aquatinta printers.
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We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of OAO LUKOIL and its subsidiaries as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and 

comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2000.

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the management of OAO LUKOIL.  Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of

America. Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,

the consolidated financial position of OAO LUKOIL and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the

consolidated results of the operations and the consolidated cash flows of OAO LUKOIL and its subsidiaries for the

each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2000 in conformity with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America.

August 8, 2001

Moscow, Russian Federation

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors of OAO LUKOIL

The following pages contain Consolidated Financial Statements of OAO LUKOIL prepared in accordance with US

GAAP accounts. They do not form part of the Russian statutory report and accounts and have not been included

in the Russian version of this document. These accounts are prepared on the basis different from the Russian

statutory accounts and the operational results shown are different in certain material respects. Please carefully

read the Auditor's notes which explain the basis of preparation, summary of significant accounting policies and

certain other aspects of financial results of OAO LUKOIL.
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2000 1999

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,137 537

Short-term investments 229 137

Accounts and notes receivable 
(less provisions of $125 million and $97 million in 2000 and 1999, respectively) 2,972 1,598

Inventories 719 530

Prepaid taxes and other expenses 675 133

Other current assets 362 147

Total current assets 6,094 3,082

Investments 423 750

Property, plant and equipment 9,906 8,129

Deferred income tax assets 201 79

Goodwill and intangible assets 278 251

Other non-current assets 207 212

Total assets 17,109 12,503

Liabilities and Stockholders’ equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 2,221 1,479

Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt 829 728

Taxes payable 404 569

Other current liabilities 238 110

Total current liabilities 3,692 2,886

Long-term debt 1,483 1,769

Deferred income tax liabilities 284 146

Other long-term liabilities 147 145

Minority interest in subsidiary companies 984 484

Total liabilities 6,590 5,430

Stockholders’ equity

Common stock 
(757 million and 738 million shares of par value of 0.025 rubles each, authorized in 2000 and 1999, respectively; 

738 million shares issued in 2000 and 1999, respectively; 715 million and 678 million shares outstanding 

in 2000  and 1999, respectively) 14 14 

Preferred stock
(77 million shares of par value of 0.025 rubles each, authorized and issued in 2000 and 1999, respectively; 

77 million and 75 million shares outstanding in 2000 and 1999, respectively) 1 1 

Treasury stock 
(common and preferred stock, at cost; 23 million and 62 million shares in 2000 and 1999, respectively) (376) (549)

Additional paid-in capital 2,895 2,816 

Retained earnings 7,994 4,803 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (9) (12)

Total stockholders’ equity 10,519 7,073 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 17,109 12,503 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2000 and 1999

(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted)

President of OAO LUKOIL First Vice-President of OAO LUKOIL

Alekperov V.Y. Kukura S.P.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998

(Millions of US dollars, except share data)

2000 1999 1998

Revenues

Sales 13,010 7,288 6,639

Equity share in income (loss) of affiliates 230 88 (20)

Total revenues 13,240 7,376 6,619

Costs and other deductions

Operating expenses (4,597) (3,186) (4,417)

Selling, general and administrative expenses (2,316) (1,263) (1,148)

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (838) (598) (587)

Taxes other than income taxes (1,050) (527) (743)

Exploratory expense (130) (61) (51)

Loss on disposal and impairment of assets (247) (49) (183)

Income (loss) from operating activities 4,062 1,692 (510)

Interest expense (153) (147) (218)

Interest and dividend income 209 73 49

Currency translation gain (loss) 1 (34) 1,289

Other non-operating (expense) income (195) (301) 254

Minority interest (61) (34) 13

Income before income taxes 3,863 1,249 877

Current income taxes (569) (302) (149)

Deferred income taxes 18 115 1

Net income 3,312 1,062 729

Dividends declared on preferred stock (47) (8) (11)

Net income available for common stockholders 3,265 1,054 718

Basic earnings per share of common stock (US dollars) 4.83 1.69 1.15

Diluted earnings per share of common stock (US dollars) 4.73 1.69 1.15

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998

(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted)

2000 1999 1998

Stockholders’ Comprehensive Stockholders’ Comprehensive Stockholders’ Comprehensive 

equity income equity income equity income

Common stock 

Outstanding at December 31 14 14 14

Preferred stock

Outstanding at December 31 1 1 1

Treasury stock

Balance at January 1 (549) (426) (401)

Stock purchased (1,021) (150) (63)

Stock issued 1,194 27 38

Balance at December 31 (376) (549) (426)

Additional paid-in capital

Balance at January 1 2,816 2,245 2,245

Premium on shares issued for 
KomiTEK acquisition - 469 -

Contributions required and received under 
privatization tender 117 102 -

Proceeds from issuance of treasury stock 
in excess of carrying amount (Note 11) 292 - -

Put option on Company’s common stock 
(Note 11) (330) - -

Balance at December 31 2,895 2,816 2,245

Retained earnings

Balance at January 1 4,803 - 3,756 - 3,062 -

Net income 3,312 3,312 1,062 1,062 729 729

Dividends on preferred stock (47) - (8) - (11) -

Dividends on common stock (74) - (7) - (24) -

Balance at December 31 7,994 4,803 3,756

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Balance at January 1 (12) (5) -

Foreign currency translation adjustment 3 3 (7) (7) (5) (5)

Balance at December 31 (9) (12) (5)

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,315 1,055 724

Total stockholders’ equity as of December 31 10,519 7,073 5,585

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998

(Millions of US dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Share activity

2000 1999 1998

(millions of shares) (millions of shares) (millions of shares)

Common stock

Balance at January 1 738 669 669

Conversion of preferred stock into common stock 
(1 preference share into 6 common shares) - 69 -

Balance at December 31 738 738 669

Preferred stock

Balance at January 1 77 77 77

Issuance of preferred stock - 12 -

Conversion of preferred stock into common stock - (12) -

Balance at December 31 77 77 77

Treasury stock

Balance at January 1 (62) (48) (47)

Purchase of treasury stock (88) (25) (9)

Sales of treasury stock 127 11 8

Balance at December 31 (23) (62) (48)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATES STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998

(Millions of US dollars)

2000 1999 1998

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 3,312 1,062 729

Adjustments for non-cash items

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 838 598 587

Equity share in (income) loss of affiliates (230) (88) 20

Loss on disposal and impairment of assets 247 49 183

Deferred income taxes (18) (115) (1)

Non-cash currency translation loss (29) (37) (387)

Non-cash investing activities (177) (92) (465)

Exploratory expense 130 61 51

All other items – net 25 (12) 35

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts and notes receivable (1,213) (209) 978

Inventories (50) (25) 357

Accounts payable 541 147 (633)

Taxes payable (195) (71) (794)

Other current assets and liabilities (515) 32 (218)

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,666 1,300 442

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures (1,674) (766) (586)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 10 41 20

Purchases of investments (197) (390) (272)

Proceeds from sale of investments 47 250 109

Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (98) (10) (50)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,912) (875) (779)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net movements of short-term borrowings 113 (260) 42

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 291 549 474

Principal payments of long-term debt (439) (189) (267)

Dividends paid (118) (21) (40)

Financing received from stockholders under privatization tender 50 102 -

Purchase of treasury stock (1,021) (150) (63)

Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 1,005 27 38

Other – net (7) (6) (37)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (126) 52 147

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (28) (33) (37)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 600 444 (227)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 537 93 320

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,137 537 93

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information 

Interest paid 170 134 189

Income taxes paid 644 214 165

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The primary activities of OAO LUKOIL (the “Company”)

and its subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled

entities (together, the “Group”), are oil exploration,

production, refining, marketing and distribution. The

Company is the ultimate parent entity of this vertically

integrated group of companies.

The Group was established in accordance with

Presidential Decree 1403, issued on November 17, 1992

under which, on April 5, 1993, the Russian Federation

(the “State”) transferred to the Company 51% of the

voting shares of fifteen enterprises, and Government

Resolution 861 issued on September 1, 1995 under

which, during 1995 a further nine enterprises were

transferred to the Group.  Since 1995 the Group 

undertook a share exchange program to increase its

shareholding in each of the twenty-four founding 

subsidiaries to 100%.   

From formation, the Group has expanded substantially

through consolidation of its interests, acquisition of

new companies and establishment of new businesses.

Business and economic environment

The environment for business in the Russian Federation

has changed rapidly over the last decade from a system

where central planning and direction dominated to one

in which market forces increasingly operate. As a result

of the speed and continuation of this complex change,

the legal and regulatory framework in place in more

mature market economies for the protection and 

regulation of companies and investors is still developing.

The Russian Federation and other former Soviet Union

republics have also been experiencing political change

and macro-economic instability.

These factors have affected and may continue to affect

the activities of enterprises doing business in these 

environments.  Operating in the Russian Federation and

other former Soviet Union republics involves risks

which do not typically exist in more mature and 

developed market economies.

The accompanying financial statements reflect 

management’s assessment of the impact of the Russian

business environment on the operations and the

financial position of the Group.  Among other things,

this includes assessment of collectability of accounts

receivable and provisions for taxes (including 

penalties and interest).  The impact on the Group of

the current and future business environments may 

differ from management’s assessment and such 

differences may be significant.

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared by the Company to be in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America (“US GAAP”). 

These financial statements are not the statutory

financial statements of the Company which are 

prepared annually and presented in accordance with

Russian accounting regulations (“RAR”).  The statuto-

ry financial statements of the Company for 2000,

1999 and 1998 have been filed with appropriate

authorities.

Differences exist between the requirements of RAR and

those of US GAAP. Accordingly, these consolidated

financial statements differ in material respects from the

statutory financial statements of the Company. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 

ORGANIZATION AND ENVIRONMENT
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Principles of consolidation

The financial position and results of subsidiaries of

which the Company directly or indirectly owns more

than 50% of voting interest and which the Company

controls, are included with the financial position and

results of the Company in these consolidated 

financial statements.  Other significant investments

in companies of which the Company directly or 

indirectly owns between 20% and 50% of voting

interest and over which the Company exercises 

significant influence but not control, are accounted

for using the equity method of accounting.

Investments in other companies are included in

“Investments” at cost or fair value.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity

with US GAAP requires management to make estimates

and assumptions which affect reported amounts of

assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.  Eventual 

actual amounts could differ from such estimates.  

Revenue recognition

Revenues from the production and sale of crude oil and

petroleum products are recognized when title passes to

customers.  

Revenues from non-cash sales are recognized at the fair

market value of the crude oil and petroleum products

sold.

Foreign currency translation

The accounting records of Group companies’ 

operations in the Russian Federation are maintained in

rubles and the Company prepares its statutory 

financial statements and reports in that currency to its

shareholders in accordance with the laws of the

Russian Federation.

As the Russian economy is considered to be 

hyperinflationary, the US dollar is the functional 

currency of the Company in accordance with Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 52,

“Foreign Currency Translation”.  

For the purposes of presenting financial statements

prepared in conformity with US GAAP, the US dollar

is considered to be the reporting currency of the

Group. 

Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are

included in the consolidated statement of income. 

For operations in the Russian Federation or other

economies considered to be hyperinflationary, 

monetary assets and liabilities have been translated

into US dollars at the rate prevailing at each balance

sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities have

been translated into US dollars at historical rates.

Revenues, expenses and cash flows have been 

translated into US dollars at rates, which 

approximate actual rates at the date of the 

transaction.  Translation differences resulting from

the use of these rates are included in the 

consolidated statement of income.

For the majority of operations outside the Russian

Federation, the US dollar is the functional currency.

For certain other operations outside the Russian

Federation, assets and liabilities are generally translated

into US dollars at year-end exchange rates and 

revenues and expenses are translated at average

exchange rates for the year.  Resulting translation

adjustments are reflected as a separate component of

stockholders’ equity. 

As of December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, exchange

rates of 28.16, 27.00 and 20.65 Russian rubles, 

respectively to the US dollar have been used for 

translation purposes.

Note 2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES



9

A significant portion of the balances and 

transactions of Group companies are denominated

in Russian rubles or in currencies of certain

republics of the former Soviet Union.  Accordingly,

future movements in the exchange rate between the

US dollar and the Russian ruble and such other 

currencies may significantly affect the carrying value

of the monetary assets and liabilities of the Group

expressed in US dollars.  Such changes may also

affect the Group’s ability to realize non-monetary

assets at the amounts stated in the consolidated

financial statements.

The Russian ruble and other currencies of republics of

the former Soviet Union are not convertible outside of

their countries.  Accordingly, the translation of amounts

recorded in these currencies into US dollars should not

be construed as a representation that such currency

amounts have been, could be or will in the future be

converted into US dollars at the exchange rate shown

or at any other exchange rate.  

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid

investments with an original maturity of three months

or less.

Cash with restrictions on immediate use

Cash funds for which restrictions on immediate use

exist are accounted for within other non-current assets

and consist of open lines of credit and deposits with

credit institutions that do not reduce the balance on

loan accounts.

Accounts and notes receivable

Accounts and notes receivable are recorded at their

transaction amounts less provisions for doubtful debts.

Provisions for doubtful debts are recorded to the extent

that there is a likelihood that any of the amounts due

will not be obtained.  Non-current receivables are 

discounted to the present value of expected cash flows

in future periods.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of stocks of crude oil,

petroleum products and materials and supplies, are 

stated at the lower of cost or market value.  Cost is

determined using an “average cost” method.

Investments

Debt and equity securities are classified into one of

three categories: trading, available-for-sale, or 

held-to-maturity. 

Trading securities are bought and held principally 

for the purpose of selling in the near term. 

Held-to-maturity securities are those securities in which

a Group company has the ability and intent to hold

until maturity.  All securities not included in trading or

held-to-maturity are classified as available-for-sale.

Trading and available-for-sale securities are recorded at

fair value.  Held-to-maturity securities are recorded at

cost, adjusted for the amortization or accretion of 

premiums or discounts.  Unrealized holding gains and

losses on trading securities are included in the 

consolidated statement of income.  Unrealized holding

gains and losses, net of the related tax effect, on 

available-for-sale securities are reported as a separate

component of comprehensive income until realized.

Realized gains and losses from the sale of available-for-

sale securities are determined on a specific identification

basis.  Dividends and interest income are recognized in

the consolidated statement of income when earned.

A permanent decline in the market value of any 

available-for-sale or held-to-maturity security below

cost is accounted for as a reduction in the carrying

amount to fair value.  The impairment is charged to the

consolidated statement of income and a new cost base

for the security is established.  Premiums and discounts

are amortized or accreted over the life of the related

held-to-maturity or available-for-sale security as an

adjustment to yield using the effective interest method

and such amortization and accretion is recorded in the

consolidated statement of income.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Property, plant and equipment

Oil and gas properties are accounted for using the 

successful efforts method of accounting whereby

property acquisitions, successful exploratory wells, all

development costs, and support equipment and 

facilities are capitalized.  Unsuccessful exploratory

wells are expensed when a well is determined to be

non-productive. Other exploratory expenditures,

including geological and geophysical costs are

expensed as incurred. 

Depreciation, depletion and amortization of capitalized

costs of oil and gas properties is calculated using the

unit-of-production method based upon proved reserves

for the cost of property acquisitions and proved 

developed reserves for exploration and development

costs.  Estimated costs of dismantling oil and gas 

production facilities, including abandonment and site

restoration costs are included as a component of 

depreciation, depletion and amortization.

Production and related overhead costs are expensed as

incurred.

Depreciation of assets not directly associated with oil

production is calculated on a straight-line basis over the

economic lives of such assets, estimated to be in the 

following ranges:

Buildings and constructions 5 – 40 Years

Machinery and equipment 5 – 20 Years

In addition to production assets, certain Group 

companies also maintain and construct social assets

for the use of local communities.  Such assets are 

capitalized only to the extent that they are expected

to result in future economic benefits to the Group. If

capitalized, they are depreciated over their estimated

economic lives. 

Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets are 

amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful or

legal lives to a maximum of 20 years.  

Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets, including oil and gas properties and

goodwill, are assessed for possible impairment in

accordance with SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived

Assets to Be Disposed Of”.  SFAS No. 121 requires 

long-lived assets with recorded values which are not

expected to be recovered through future cash flows to

be written down to current fair value. Fair value is 

generally determined by reference to discounted 

estimated future net cash flows.  Permanent 

impairment of the carrying value of long-lived assets is

assessed by comparing the carrying value against the

undiscounted projection of net future pre-tax cash

flows.  Where an assessment has indicated impairment

in value, the long-lived assets are written down to their

fair value, as determined by the discounted projection

of net future pre-tax cash flows.  

Deferred income taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized

in respect of future tax consequences attributable to

temporary differences between the carrying amounts of

existing assets and liabilities for the purposes of the

consolidated financial statements and their respective

tax bases and in respect of operating loss and tax 

credit carryforwards.  Deferred income tax assets and

liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates 

expected to apply to taxable income in the years in

which those temporary differences are expected to

reverse and the assets be recovered and liabilities 

settled.  The effect on deferred income tax assets and

liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the

consolidated statement of income in the reporting 

period which includes the enactment date.

The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets

is dependent upon the generation of future taxable

income in the reporting periods in which the 

originating expenditure becomes deductible.  In

assessing the realizability of deferred income tax

assets, management considers whether it is more 

likely than not that the deferred income tax assets will

be realized.  In making this assessment, management



11

considers the scheduled reversal of deferred income

tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and

tax planning strategies.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are initially recorded at the

value of net proceeds received.  Any difference between

the net proceeds and the redemption value is amortized

at a constant rate over the term of the borrowing.

Amortization is included in the consolidated statement

of income each year and the carrying amounts are

adjusted as amortization accumulates.

If borrowings are repurchased or settled before 

maturity, any difference between the amount paid and

the carrying amount is recognized in the consolidated

statement of income in the period in which the 

repurchase or settlement occurs.

Pension benefits

The expected costs in respect of pension obligations of

Group companies are determined by an independent

actuary.  Obligations in respect of each employee are

accrued by the relevant Group company over the

reporting periods during which the employee renders

service in the Group.

Treasury stock

Purchases by Group companies of the Company’s stock

are recorded at cost and classified as treasury stock

within Stockholders’ equity. Shares shown as

Authorized and Issued include treasury stock.  Shares

shown as Outstanding do not include treasury stock.

Earnings per share

Earnings per share are computed by dividing net

income available to common stockholders by the

weighted-average number of shares of common stock

outstanding during the reporting period.  A calculation

is carried out to establish if there is potential dilution

in earnings per share if convertible securities were to

be converted into shares of common stock or 

contracts to issue shares of common stock were to be

exercised.  If there is such dilution, diluted earnings per

share is presented.

Contingencies

Certain conditions may exist as of balance sheet dates,

which may result in losses to the Group but the impact

of which will only be resolved when one or more future

events occur or fail to occur. 

If a Group company’s assessment of a contingency

indicates that it is probable that a material loss has

been incurred and the amount of the liability can be

estimated, then the estimated liability is accrued and

charged to the consolidated statement of income.  If

the assessment indicates that a potentially material loss

is not probable, but is reasonably possible, or is 

probable, but cannot be estimated, then the nature of

the contingent liability, together with an estimate of

the range of possible loss, is disclosed in the notes to

the consolidated financial statements. Loss 

contingencies considered remote are generally not 

disclosed unless they involve guarantees, in which case

the nature of the guarantee is disclosed. 

Environmental expenditures

Estimated losses from environmental remediation 

obligations are generally recognized no later than 

completion of remedial feasibility studies. Group 

companies accrue for losses associated with 

environmental remediation obligations when such 

losses are probable and reasonably estimable.  Such

accruals are adjusted as further information becomes

available or circumstances change.  Costs of expected

future expenditures for environmental remediation

obligations are not discounted to their present value. 

Recent accounting pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards

Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”.  This

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SFAS, as amended by SFAS No. 137, “Accounting for

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities –

Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB statement No.

133”, and by SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Certain

Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities

– an Amendment of FASB statement No. 133”, 

establishes accounting and reporting standards for

derivative instruments and hedging activities and

require recognition of all derivatives as assets or 

liabilities in the balance sheet and measurement of

those instruments at fair value.  SFAS No. 137 delays

the required implementation date by one year, mak-

ing it effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15,

2000.  The Company does not expect adoption to

have a significant effect on its consolidated balance

sheets or consolidated statements of income.  The

Group will adopt these standards in the financial year

beginning January 1, 2001.

In June 2000, the FASB issued SFAS No.140, “Accounting

for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and

Extinguishments of Liabilities – a replacement of FASB

Statement 125”.  SFAS No.140 revises the standards for

accounting for transfers of assets and extinguishments

of liabilities and requires companies to disclose 

financial assets pledged as collateral separately from

other assets.  SFAS No.140 is effective for transfers and

extinguishments after March 31, 2001, and for 

disclosure of assets pledged for fiscal years ending after

December 15, 2000.  Information about securitized

assets is disclosed in notes 7 and 8.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business

Combinations”, which requires that business 

combinations be recorded using the Purchase method

of accounting.  SFAS No. 141 is effective for all business

combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 and will

impact the Group in the financial year beginning

January 1, 2002.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142,

"Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets".  SFAS No.

142 revises the accounting standards for intangible

assets that are acquired individually or with a

group of other assets, other than those acquired in

a business combination, upon their acquisition and

thereafter.  SFAS No.142 applies to fiscal years

beginning after December 15, 2001.  The Group

will adopt this standard in the financial year 

beginning January 1, 2002.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting

for Asset Retirement Obligations”  SFAS No. 143 sets

standards for recognizing asset retirement obligations

in financial statements and is effective for fiscal year

beginning after June 15, 2002.  The Group will adopt

the standard in the financial year beginning January 1,

2003.

Comparative amounts

Prior year amounts have been reclassified, where 

applicable, to conform with current year presentation.

Note 3

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As of December 31,2000 As of December 31, 1999

Cash held in Russian rubles 142 227

Cash held in other currencies 995 310

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,137 537



13

Note 4 

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Note 5 

INVESTMENTS

As of December 31, 2000 As of December 31, 1999

Investments in “equity method” affiliates and joint ventures 274 573

Other long-term investments 149 177

Total long-term investments 423 750

Investments in “equity method” affiliates and joint ventures

Year ended December 31, 2000 Year ended December 31, 1999 Year ended December 31, 1998

Total Group’s share Total Group’s share Total Group’s share

Revenues 2,403 1,040 2,008 751 1,349 608

Income (loss) before income taxes 691 318 406 140 (7) 5

Less income taxes (209) (88) (140) (52) (48) (25)

Net income (loss) 482 230 266 88 (55) (20)

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998

Settlement of amounts payable through exchange of goods 1,224 740 2,362

Net non-cash investing activities 177 92 465

Total non-cash transactions 1,401 832 2,827

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31, 

2000 1999 1998

Net cash used in investing activities 1,912 875 779

Net non-cash investing activities 177 92 465

Net cash and non-cash investing activities 2,089 967 1,244

The following table shows the effect of non-cash transactions on investing activities:

The consolidated statement of cash flows excludes

the effect of non-cash transactions.  The following

table shows the distribution of such non-cash trans-

actions:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The summarized financial information below is in

respect of corporate joint ventures, companies of

which the Group owns less than a majority and 

companies where the Group owns a majority of voting

stock, but does not possess a majority of voting rights.

The companies are primarily engaged in crude oil

exploration, production, marketing, refining and 

distribution operations in the Russian Federation and

crude oil production and marketing in Kazakhstan,

Azerbaijan, Egypt and Turkey.
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As of December 31, 2000 As of December 31, 1999

Total Group’s share Total Group’s share

Current assets 514 213 767 306

Property, plant and equipment, net 1,188 598 1,464 717

Other non-current assets 32 14 59 28

Total assets 1,734 825 2,290 1,051

Short-term debt 2 - 37 10

Other current liabilities 275 112 412 144

Long-term debt 785 418 566 270

Other non-current liabilities 48 21 112 54

Net assets 624 274 1,163 573

Note 6 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

At cost Net

As of December 31, As of December 31, As of December 31, As of December 31, 

2000 1999 2000 1999

Exploration and Production:

Western Siberia 10,128 10,227 3,494 3,467

European Russia 7,138 5,566 2,645 1,839

International 657 253 553 203

Total 17,923 16,046 6,692 5,509

Refining, Marketing and Distribution:

Western Siberia 570 436 328 227

European Russia 4,063 3,674 2,133 1,861

International 1,344 1,090 574 374

Total 5,977 5,200 3,035 2,462

Other:

Western Siberia 185 160 123 99

European Russia 52 56 43 47

International 25 32 13 12

Total 262 248 179 158

Total property, plant and equipment 24,162 21,494 9,906 8,129

Note 7 

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND CURRENT PORTION OF LONG-TERM DEBT

As of December 31, 2000 As of December 31, 1999

Short-term borrowings 623 460

Current portion of long-term debt 206 268

Total short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt 829 728

The majority of short-term borrowings are loans from 

various third parties denominated in rubles and are secured

by export sales, property, plant and equipment and 

securities.  Annual interest rates on loans are both fixed and

floating and vary from 6.5% to 18.0%.
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Note 8 

LONG-TERM DEBT 

As of December 31, 2000 As of December 31, 1999

Long-term loans and borrowings from third parties 
(including loans from banks in the amount of $374 million and $529 million 
as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively) 755 917

Long-term loans and borrowings from related parties 5 233

3.5% Convertible US dollar bonds, maturing 2002 284 270

1% Convertible US dollar bonds, maturing 2003 445 414

Variable interest unsecured ruble bonds, maturing 2003 107 111

Long-term promissory notes - 24

Capital lease obligation 93 68

Total long-term debt 1,689 2,037

Current portion of long-term debt (206) (268)

Total non-current portion of long-term debt 1,483 1,769

Long-term loans and borrowings

Long-term loans and borrowings are primarily repayable in

US dollars, maturing from 2000 through 2025 and are

secured by export sales, property, plant and equipment and

securities.  The weighted-average interest rate on long-term

loans and borrowings from third parties was 6.91% and

8.18% per annum as of December 31, 2000 and 1999,

respectively; the weighted-average interest rate on long-

term loans and borrowings from related parties was 4.20%

and 2.81% per annum as of December 31, 2000 and 1999,

respectively.

Included in long-term loans and borrowings from related

parties as of December 31, 1999 was an amount of $180 

million due to a bank in which the Company owns 16.6% of

the common stock.  This amount was repaid during 2000.  

Amounts received in loans and borrowings during the

years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 were

$291 million, $549 million and $474 million, respectively.

Annual maturities of total long-term debt during the

next five years, including the portion classified as 

current, are $206 million in 2001, $369 million in 2002,

$680 million in 2003, $74 million in 2004, $70 million

in 2005 and $290 million thereafter.

Convertible US dollar bonds

On May 6, 1997, a Group company issued 230,000 

convertible bonds with a face value of $1,000 each, maturing

on May 6, 2002, and convertible to fifteen global depository

receipts (“GDRs”) of the Company per bond. On November

3, 1997, a Group company issued 350,000 high yield and

premium exchangeable redeemable bonds with a face value

of $1,000 each, maturing on November 3, 2003, and

exchangeable for 5.625 GDRs of the Company per bond.

The bonds are convertible into GDRs up to the maturity

dates.  In both cases, the GDRs are exchangeable into four

shares of common stock of the Company.

Bonds not converted by the maturity date must be

redeemed for cash.  The redemption price at maturity

will be 130.323% of the face value in respect of the

bonds issued on May 6, 1997 and 153.314% of the face

value in respect of the bonds issued on November 3,

1997.  The Company may redeem the bonds for cash

prior to maturity, subject to early redemption charges.

The carrying amount of the bonds is being accreted to

their redemption value with the accreted amount being

charged to the consolidated income statement.

Group companies held sufficient treasury stock

throughout 2000 and 1999 to permit the full 

conversion of the bonds to GDRs. 

Ruble bonds

On August 13, 1999, the Company issued three million

variable interest rate ruble bonds with a face value of

1,000 rubles each, maturing on August 13, 2003.  The

bonds are unsecured and bear interest at 6% per annum

adjusted for ruble to dollar devaluation, payable 

semi-annually.  The principal is repayable at maturity

date at face value in rubles

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Tax legislation in the Russian Federation together with

its interaction with tax legislation in other countries in

which the Group operates, does not enable the

Company to file income tax returns on a consolidated

basis. 

The statutory income tax rate applicable to the

Company was 30% from April 1, 1999 to December 31,

2000 and 35% from January 1, 1998 to March 31, 1999.

Under Russian legislation, an operating loss may be used

fully or partially in any of the five subsequent tax years

to offset up to 50% of the taxable profit in that year

after including tax concessions.

Note 9 

TAXES

Domestic and foreign components of income before income taxes and income taxes are shown below:

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31, 

2000 1999 1998

Domestic 3,791 1,342 1,042

Foreign 72 (93) (165)

Income before income taxes 3,863 1,249 877

Current

Domestic 554 284 147

Foreign 15 18 2

Current income taxes 569 302 149

Deferred 

Domestic (27) (106) (1)

Foreign 9 (9) -

Deferred income taxes (18) (115) (1)

Total income taxes 551 187 148

The following table is a reconciliation of the notional income tax at the Russian statutory tax rate applied to Income before

income taxes to Total income taxes:

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31, 

2000 1999 1998

Income before income taxes 3,863 1,249 877

Notional income tax at Russian statutory rates 1,159 375 307

Increase (reduction) in income tax due to:

Non-deductible items 172 95 25

Domestic and foreign rate differences (409) (135) 44

Foreign currency gains (losses) 17 (89) (273)

Effect of rate changes 7 (13) -

Investment tax credits (417) (56) (20)

Change in valuation allowance 4 10 65

Other 18 - -

Total income taxes 551 187 148
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Taxes other than income taxes are:

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31, 

2000 1999 1998

Royalty tax 259 168 214

Mineral replacement tax 150 114 75

Road users’ tax 179 87 87

Social taxes and contributions 198 78 76

Property tax 50 32 66

Other taxes and contributions 214 48 225

Taxes other than income taxes 1,050 527 743

Deferred income taxes are included in the consolidated balance sheets as follows:

As of December 31, 2000 As of December 31, 1999

Other current assets 142 36

Deferred income tax assets – non-current 201 79

Other current liabilities (108) (24)

Deferred income tax liabilities – non-current (284) (146)

Net deferred income tax liability (49) (55)

The following table sets out the tax effects of the temporary differences which gave rise to deferred income tax assets and

liabilities:

As of December 31, 2000 As of December 31, 1999

Accounts receivable 87 -

Long-term liabilities 105 70

Inventories 55 10

Property, plant and equipment 50 11

Account payable 17 29

Long-term investments 4 3

Other current assets 3 10

Other 2 2

Operating loss carry forward 69 22

Total gross deferred income tax assets 392 157

Less valuation allowance (49) (42)

Deferred income tax assets 343 115

Property, plant and equipment (257) (133)

Accounts payable (54) -

Accounts and notes receivable (52) (14)

Investments (23) (7) 

Other current liabilities - (10) 

Other non-current assets - (2)

Other (6) (4)

Deferred income tax liabilities (392) (170)

Net deferred income tax liability (49) (55)
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Based upon the level of historical taxable income and 

projections for future taxable income over the periods in

which the deferred income tax assets are deductible, 

management believes it is more likely that not that Group

companies will realize the benefits of the deductible 

differences, net of the existing valuation allowances as of

December 31, 2000 and 1999.

In August 2000, the Federal Law of the Russian Federation

on Income Tax for Companies was amended, giving local

authorities the right to increase the statutory income tax rate

in October and Novemer, 2000 from 30 to 35 percent, 

effective from January 1, 2001. Accordingly, deferred taxes

for Russian Group companies as of December 31, 2000 are

calculated at 35 percent and the income tax expense

recorded in the period ended December 31, 2000 includes a

deferred tax expense of $7 million as a result of this change.

At December 31, 2000, the Group has net operating loss

carryforwards of $101 million of which $72 million expire

during 2003, $14 million expire during 2004 and $15 

million expire during 2005 and beyond.

The Company sponsors a pension plan that covers the

majority of Group employees.  This plan, administered by a

non-state pension fund, LUKOIL-GARANT, provides

defined pension benefits based on years of service and final

remuneration levels.

Note 10 

PENSION BENEFITS

The pension related expense was as follows:

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

2000 1999 1998

Service cost 7 7 14

Interest cost 22 23 45

Less expected return on plan assets (3) (2) (1)

Amortization of prior service cost 5 5 13

Total expense 31 33 71

An independent actuary has assessed the benefit obligations and plan assets for the fund as of December 31, 2000 and 1999

as summarized below: 

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

2000 1999

Benefit obligations

Benefit obligations at January 1 121 121

Effect of exchange rate changes (5) (32)

Service cost 7 7

Interest cost 22 23

Plan amendments 7 -

Actuarial (gain) loss (38) 4

Benefits paid (4) (2)

Benefit obligations at December 31 110 121
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In addition to the plan assets listed above, LUKOIL -

GARANT holds net assets in an operating fund.  The 

operating fund includes an insurance reserve, the purpose

of which is to satisfy pension obligations should the plan

assets, including contributions due from the Group, not be

sufficient to meet pension obligations.  The Group's 

contributions to the pension plan are determined without

considering the assets in the insurance reserve.

Dividends and dividend limitations

Profits available for distribution to common stockholders

and for other assignations in respect of any reporting period

are determined by reference to the statutory financial 

statements of the Company prepared in accordance with

the laws of the Russian Federation and denominated in

rubles.  Under Russian Law, dividends are limited to the net

profits of the reporting year as set out in the statutory 

financial statements of the Company.  These laws and other 

legislative acts governing the rights of shareholders to

receive dividends are subject to various interpretations. 

The Company’s net profits were 45,686 million rubles,

13,404 million rubles and 2,067 million rubles, respectively

for 2000, 1999 and 1998, pursuant to the statutory 

financial statements, which at the US dollar exchange rates

as of December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 amounted to

$1,622 million, $496 million and $100 million, respectively. 

At the annual stockholders’ meeting on June 28, 2001,

dividends were declared for 2000 in the amount of 8.00

rubles per common share and 59.16 rubles per 

preferred share, which at the date of the meeting was

equivalent to $0.27 and $2.03, respectively.

At the annual stockholders’ meeting on June 8, 2000,

dividends were declared for 1999 in the amount of 3.00

rubles per common share and 17.45 rubles per 

preferred share, which at the date of the decision was

equivalent to $0.11 and $0.62, respectively.  

Note 11 

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

2000 1999

Plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at January 1 12 5

Effect of exchange rate changes (1) (2)

Return on plan assets 5 4

Employer contributions 12 7

Benefits paid (4) (2)

Fair value of plan assets at December 31 24 12

Funded status (86) (109)

Unamortized prior service cost 62 63

Unrecognized actuarial (gain) loss (38) 1

Net amount recognized (62) (45)

Amounts recorded in the consolidated balance sheets were:

Accrued benefit liabilities (62) (57)

Intangible assets - 12

Net amount recognized (62) (45)

Assumptions as of December 31

Discount rate 15.3% 19.5%

Expected return on plan assets 22.0% 22.0%
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At the annual stockholders’ meeting on June 29, 1999,

dividends were declared for 1998 in the amount of 0.25

rubles per common share and 2.67 rubles per preferred

share, which at the date of the decision was equivalent

to $0.01 and $0.11, respectively.  

Stockholders’ rights

Holders of preferred stock have the right to receive

annual fixed dividends.  This fixed dividend is 10% of

the net income of the reporting year or the dividend

paid on each share of common stock, whichever is the

greater.  In addition, they have voting rights on matters

related to restructuring or liquidation of the Company

or amendments to the charter of the Company which

would adversely affect their rights.  

Transactions involving treasury stock

During 2000, the Group sold a group of companies to

LUKOIL - GARANT, a related party.  The assets and liabilities

of the group of companies included 45,108,103 shares of

common stock of the Company (accounted for as Treasury

Stock of the Group prior to the sale) and a contingent 

liability to purchase a further 7,876,000 shares of common

stock of the Company from the Company on November 3,

2003 at an effective amount of $68.14 per share. The 

contingent liability relates to an option agreement between

one of the companies sold and the Group contracted as

part of the sale terms.  The fair value of the net assets of the

companies sold, including the contingent liability, was

equivalent to the amount paid by LUKOIL - GARANT for

the group of companies.

Fair value 

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, current

accounts and notes receivable, and liquid securities are

approximately equal to their value as disclosed in the

consolidated financial statements.

The fair value of long-term receivables included in

other non-current assets approximates the amounts

disclosed in the consolidated financial statements as a

result of discounting using estimated market interest

rates for similar financing arrangements.  Long-term

debt is the only category of financial instruments whose

fair value differs materially from the amount disclosed

in the consolidated financial statements. The estimated

fair value of long-term debt as of December 31, 2000

was $1,515 million as a result of discounting using 

Earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for these years was as follows: 

Year ended Year ended Year ended 

December 31, 2000 December 31, 1999 December 31, 1998

Net income 3,312 1,062 729

Dividends on preferred shares (47) (8) (11)

Net income related to common shares 3,265 1,054 718

Add back convertible debt interest (net of tax at effective rate)

3.5% Convertible US dollar bonds, maturing 2002 17 17 16

1% Convertible US dollar bonds, maturing 2003 23 23 21

Total diluted net income 3,305 1,094 755

Weighted average number of outstanding common shares 
(thousands of shares) 676,341 622,990 622,352

Add back treasury shares held in respect of convertible debt 
(thousands of shares) 21,675 21,675 21,675

Weighted average number of outstanding common shares, after dilution 
(thousands of shares) 698,016 644,665 644,027

Note 12

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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estimated market interest rates for similar financing

arrangements.

Letters of credit and financial guarantees

As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, Group companies

were contingently liable for performance under letters

of credit and other financial guarantees totaling

approximately $5 million and $356 million, respectively.

Management does not believe it is practicable to 

estimate the fair value of these financial instruments

and does not expect any unrecorded material losses to

be incurred by Group companies in this respect.

In December 2000, the Group acquired 72% of Getty

Petroleum Marketing Inc. for $53 million. Getty

Petroleum Marketing Inc. is a marketing and distribution

company supplying 1,260 retail outlets which it leases

throughout the Northeast and Mid Atlantic regions of

the United States of America.  Subsequent to the year

end, the Group acquired the remaining 28% of Getty

Petroleum Marketing Inc. for $20 million.

In December 2000, the Group acquired 32% of ZAO

KomiArcticOil for $44 million thereby increasing the

Group’s ownership stake in ZAO KomiArcticOil to

53%.  ZAO KomiArcticOil become a subsidiary 

company on that date.  Prior to the acquisition, ZAO

KomiArcticOil was recorded as an associated compa-

ny using the equity method of accounting. ZAO

KomiArcticOil is an exploration and production

company operating in the Komi Republic in the

Russian Federation.

In June 2000, the Group acquired 7% of OAO RITEK for

$1 million thereby increasing the Group’s ownership

stake in OAO RITEK to 51%.  Prior to this acquisition,

OAO RITEK was recorded as an associated company

using the equity method of accounting. OAO RITEK is

an exploration and production company operating in

Western Siberia.

In June 2000, the Group acquired 14% of ZAO

LUKOIL - Perm in exchange for 54% of the Group’s

interest in OAO Vatoil thereby increasing the Group’s

ownership stake in ZAO LUKOIL Perm to 64% and

reducing the Group’s effective interest in OAO Vatoil

from 100% to 80%. Prior to this acquisition, ZAO

LUKOIL - Perm was recorded as an associated 

company using the equity method of accounting. ZAO

LUKOIL - Perm is an exploration and production

company operating in European Russia.

In May 2000, the Group acquired LUK - Sintez Oil B.V.

which owns 97% of the OAO Odessa Oil Refinery Plant

located in Ukraine for $20 million. 

In October 1999, the Group was part of a consortium

which acquired 58% of the company which owns the

Neftochim Burgas AD refinery located in Bulgaria for

$81 million.  The Group held a 51% interest in this 

consortium.  During 2000, the Group bought out the

remaining 49% consortium interest held by other 

consortium parties.  The consideration for this 

acquisition was cash of $45 million and debt of $42 

million to be paid over 7 years.  The Group’s effective

ownership in the Neftochim Burgas AD refinery as of

December 31, 2000 was 58%.

In September 1999, the Group acquired OAO KomiTEK

and minority interests held in the KomiTEK group of

companies for $619 million through a share exchange.

KomiTEK is an integrated oil and gas company 

operating primarily in the Komi Republic in the Russian

Federation.  

In April 1998, the Group acquired 62% of the company

which owns the Petrotel SA refinery located in Romania

for $53 million.

All of these acquisitions have been accounted for using

the purchase method of accounting.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 13

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 
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The table below reflects the unaudited pro forma 

combined results of the Group as if the Getty Petroleum

Marketing Inc., ZAO KomiArcticOil, OAO Ritek, ZAO

LUKOIL - Perm, OAO Odessa Oil Refinery Plant, Neftochim

Burgas AD, OAO KomiTEK and Petrotel SA acquisitions

had been completed as of January 1, 1998.

Capital expenditure and investment  programs

Under the terms of respective purchase agreements, the

Group is required to invest $200 million in the Petrotel

SA refinery over a five-year period and $268 million in

the Neftochim Burgas AD refinery prior to 2003.  As of

December 31, 2000 the Group’s commitments under

these agreements were $125 million and $232 million,

respectively.

Group companies have commitments of $75 million in

2001, $46 million in 2002 and $5 million in 2003 for the

construction of oil tankers.

Group companies have commitments of $35 million in

2001 for the construction of pipelines for oil products.

Group companies have commitments to purchase

refinery equipment for Russian refineries in 2001 in the

amount of $202 million.

Group companies have commitments for capital 

expenditure contributions in the amount of $1,153 million

to be spent in the Caspian region over the next 23 years.

Group companies have investment commitments relating

to oil deposits in Iraq of $495 million to be spent within 3

years from when exploitation becomes possible.

Operating lease obligations

A Group company has commitments of $920 million for

the lease of petroleum distribution outlets over the next

15 years. Commitments for minimum rentals under

these leases as of December 31, 2000 are as follows:

As of December 31, 2000

2001 61

2002 62

2003 62

2004 62

2005 61

2005 and beyond 612

Insurance

The insurance industry in the Russian Federation and

certain other areas where the Group has operations is in

the course of development.  Many forms of insurance

protection common in other parts of the world are not

yet generally available.  The Group does not have full

coverage for its plant facilities, for business interruption,

for third party liability in respect of property and for

environmental damage arising from accidents on Group

property or relating to Group operations.  Until Group

companies are able to obtain adequate insurance 

coverage, there is a risk that the loss or destruction of

certain assets could have a material adverse effect on the

Group’s operations and financial position.

Environmental liabilities

Group companies and their predecessor entities, have

operated in the Russian Federation and other countries

for many years and, in certain parts of the operations,

environmental problems have developed. Environmental

Year ended December 31, 2000 Year ended December 31, 1999 Year ended December 31, 1998

(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Revenues 14,984 9,874 9,039

Net income 3,346 1,027 776

Basic earnings per share 4.88 1.63 1.23

Diluted earnings per share 4.78 1.63 1.23

Note 14

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
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regulations are currently under consideration in both the

Russian Federation and other areas where the Group has

operations.  Group companies are evaluating their 

obligations relating to new and changing legislation.

As liabilities in respect of the Group’s environmental 

obligations are able to be determined, they are provided for

over the estimated remaining lives of the related assets or

recognized immediately depending on their nature.  The

likelihood and amount of liabilities relating to environmental

obligations under proposed or any future legislation cannot

be reasonably estimated at present and could become 

material. Under existing legislation, however, management

believes that there are no significant unrecorded liabilities or

contingencies, which could have a materially adverse effect

on the operating results or financial position of the Group. 

In respect of disassembling equipment, winding up

production and restoring work sites, potential expenses

for Group companies as of December 31, 2000 and 1999

were estimated at $964 million and $1,273 million, 

respectively.  Of these amounts, $200 million and $152 million

are included in accumulated depreciation, depletion and

amortization as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

As part of the agreement to purchase the Neftochim Burgas

AD refinery the Group is required to invest $40 million to

the environmental protection program at this refinery.

Social assets

Certain Group companies contribute to Government

sponsored schemes, the maintenance of local 

infrastructure and the welfare of their employees 

within the Russian Federation and elsewhere.  Such

contributions include assistance with the construction,

development and maintenance of housing, hospitals

and transport services, recreation and other social

needs.  The funding of such assistance is periodically

determined by management and is appropriately 

capitalized or expensed as incurred.

Taxation environment

The taxation systems in the Russian Federation and other

emerging markets where Group companies operate are 

relatively new and are characterized by numerous taxes and

changing legislation, which may be applied retroactively

and is sometimes unclear, contradictory, and subject to

interpretation.  Often, differing interpretations exist among

numerous taxation authorities and jurisdictions.  Taxes are

subject to review and investigation by a number of 

authorities, who are enabled by law to impose severe fines, 

penalties and interest charges.  Such factors may create 

taxation risks in the Russian Federation and other countries

where Group companies operate substantially more 

significant than those in other countries where taxation

regimes have been subject to development and clarification

over long periods.

The Group has implemented tax planning and management

strategies based on existing legislation. Management believes

that it has adequately met and provided for tax liabilities

based on its interpretation of such legislation.  However, the

relevant authorities may have differing interpretations and

the effects could be significant.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 15

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Sales of oil and oil products to related parties were $44

million, $215 million and $157 million for the years

ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

Purchases of oil and oil products from related parties

were $441 million, $273 million and $202 million for the

years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998,

respectively. 

Purchases of construction services from related parties

were $355 million, $118 million and $337 million for the

years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998,

respectively.  

Amounts receivable from related parties were $121 

million and $120 million as of December 31, 2000 and

1999, respectively.  Amounts payable to related parties
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were $83 million and $50 million as of December 31,

2000 and 1999, respectively.

LUKOIL - GARANT is a defined benefit pension fund

established for the benefit of employees of the Group.

Transactions and balances with the fund are disclosed

in Notes 10, 11 and 17.

ZAO LUKOIL - Perm, a subsidiary in 2000, was an

associated company in 1999 and 1998.  Members

of the management of regional Group companies

own the majority of the outstanding shares of the

other corporate shareholder of ZAO LUKOIL -

Perm.  The shares were issued to management as a

bonus during the privatization of the regional

Group companies.

As of December 31, 2000 and 1999 the Government

of the Russian Federation owned respectively 16%

and 28% of the shares of the common stock of the

Company.  The Russian Federation also owns, 

controls, or has significant influence over the 

operations of many other companies and 

enterprises in the Russian Federation and has a 

significant influence on the operation of the 

economy.  A significant part of the activity of Group

companies is linked to companies belonging to or

controlled by the Russian Federation.  The Russian

Federation is a customer and supplier of the Group

through numerous affiliated and other related

organizations.  Management consider such trading

relationships as part of the normal course of 

conducting business in the Russian Federation and

consider that such relationships will remain for the

foreseeable future. Information on these transactions

is not disclosed as related party transactions. 

Operating segments

2000 Exploration and Refining marketing Other Elimination Consolidated

production and distribution

Sales 

Third parties 834 12,011 165 - 13,010

Inter-segment 2,313 981 70 (3,364) -

Total sales 3,147 12,992 235 (3,364) 13,010

Depletion, depreciation and amortization 611 221 6 - 838

Interest expense 37 124 32 (40) 153

Income taxes 154 384 13 - 551

Net income 794 2,727 (96) (113) 3,312

Total assets 9,555 9,375 507 (2,328) 17,109

Capital expenditure 945 909 30 (17) 1,867

Note 16 

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Presented below is information about the Group’s 

operating segments for the years ended December 31,

2000, 1999 and 1998, in accordance with SFAS No. 131,

“Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and

Related Information”.  Operating segments have been

determined based on the nature of their operations. The

performance of these operating segments is assessed by

management on a regular basis.  Exploration for and

production of primarily crude oil is carried out by 

operations included in the Exploration and production

segment.  Processing of crude oil into refined products,

purchasing, selling and transportation of crude oil and

refined petroleum products is carried out by operations

in the Refining, marketing and distribution segment.
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1999 Exploration and Refining marketing Other Elimination Consolidated

production and distribution

Third parties 834 12,011 165 - 13,010

Sales 

Third parties 635 6,542 111 - 7,288

Inter-segment 1,251 426 2 (1,679) -

Total sales 1,886 6,968 113 (1,679) 7,288

Depletion, depreciation and amortization 471 127 - - 598

Interest expense 26 122 9 (10) 147

Income taxes 54 127 6 - 187

Net income 139 851 72 - 1,062

Total assets 7,817 6,246 173 (1,733) 12,503

Capital expenditure 388 466 4 - 858

1998 Exploration and Refining marketing Other Elimination Consolidated

production and distribution

Sales

Third parties 1,411 5,001 227 - 6,639

Inter-segment 1,400 1,590 14 (3,004) -

Total sales 2,811 6,591 241 (3,004) 6,639

Depletion, depreciation and amortization 483 101 3 - 587

Interest expense 32 189 - (3) 218

Income taxes 99 45 4 - 148

Net income 881 (144) (8) - 729

Total assets 6,493 4,152 20 (1,022) 9,643

Capital expenditure 675 373 3 - 1,051

Geographical segments 
2000 1999 1998

Sales of crude oil within Russia 1,471 989 707

Export of crude oil and sales of oil by foreign subsidiaries 4,380 3,812 2,555

Sales of refined product within Russia 2,287 520 1,818

Export of refined product and sales of refined products by foreign subsidiaries 3,965 1,288 809

Other sales within Russia 830 576 688

Other export sales and other sales of foreign subsidiaries 77 103 62

Total sales 13,010 7,288 6,639

2000 Western Siberia European Russia International Elimination Consolidated

Sales

Third parties 176 4,628 8,206 - 13,010

Inter-segment 1,540 4,876 68 (6,484) -

Total sales 1,716 9,504 8,274 (6,484) 13,010

Depletion, depreciation and amortization 332 390 116 - 838

Interest expense 1 84 96 (28) 153

Income taxes 71 456 24 - 551

Net income 232 3,151 48 (119) 3,312

Total assets 4,757 11,070 3,612 (2,330) 17,109

Capital expenditure 377 1,172 335 (17) 1,867

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1999 Western Siberia European Russia International Elimination Consolidated

Sales

Third parties 222 2,403 4,663 - 7,288

Inter-segment 969 2,710 24 (3,703) -

Total sales 1,191 5,113 4,687 (3,703) 7,288

Depletion, depreciation and amortization 338 187 73 - 598

Interest expense 4 69 74 - 147

Income taxes 23 155 9 - 187

Net income 611 553 (102) - 1,062

Total assets 4,302 7,742 2,585 (2,126) 12,503

Capital expenditure 214 526 118 - 858

1998 Western Siberia European Russia International Elimination Consolidated

Sales

Third parties 980 2,662 2,997 - 6,639

Inter-segment 1,105 2,236 5 (3,346) -

Total sales 2,085 4,898 3,002 (3,346) 6,639

Depletion, depreciation and amortization 395 168 24 - 587

Interest expense 28 133 57 - 218

Income taxes 49 97 2 - 148

Net income 921 (25) (167) - 729

Total assets 4,596 4,748 1,622 (1,323) 9,643

Capital expenditure 357 354 340 - 1,051 

Note 17 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Shares of common stock

The Company has acquired 74% of the shares in OAO

Arkhangelskgeoldobycha in exhange for 17,710,697

shares of common stock and cash consideration of $130

million. The Company has exchanged 720,724 shares of

common stock for 13% and 22% of the minority interest

shareholding of OAO LUKOIL Ukhtaneftepererabotka

and OAO LUKOIL - Kominefteproduct, respectively.

The shares of OAO Arkhangelskgeoldobycha were held

by LUKOIL - GARANT, a related party, and LUKOIL

Finance Limited, a Group company.  The exchange was

finalized on April 27, 2001.  These shares were part of a

registration of 18,600,000 shares of common stock with

the Russian Federal Securities Commission on

December 7, 2000.  The remaining 168,579 shares will

be sold to the public.

At the annual stockholders meeting on June 28, 2001 a

resolution to increase the number of shares of common

stock by 94,000,000 shares of par value of 0.025 rubles

each was approved.  The Company plans to exchange

77,211,864 of these shares for the outstanding preferred

stock of the Company in the ratio of one share of 

common stock for one share of preferred stock.  The

remaining 16,788,136 shares will be sold to the public.

Business combinations

In July 2001, the Company announced its intention to

acquire 100% of the share capital of Bitech Petroleum

Corporation (“Bitech”) through its subsidiary, LUKOIL

Overseas Holding Limited for $80 million.  Bitech is a

Canadian oil exploration company with operations 

predominantly within the Komi Republic in the Russian

Federation.
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This section provides unaudited supplemental information

on oil and gas exploration and production activities of Group

companies in accordance with Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 69, “Disclosures About Oil

and Gas Producing Activities” in six separate tables:

I. Capitalized costs relating to oil and gas producing

activities

II. Costs incurred in oil and gas property acquisition,

exploration, and development activities

III. Results of operations for oil producing activities

IV. Reserve quantity information

V. Standardized measure of discounted future net cash

flows

VI. Principal sources of changes in the standardized

measure of discounted future net cash flows

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ON OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED))

I. Capitalized costs relating to oil and gas producing activities

As of December 31, 2000 International Russia Total

Unproved oil and gas properties - 246 246

Proved oil and gas properties 657 17,020 17,677

Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization (104) (11,127) (11,231)

Net capitalized costs 553 6,139 6,692

Group’s share of “equity method” affiliates’ net capitalized costs 164 104 268

Net capitalized costs 717 6,243 6,960

As of December 31, 1999 International Russia Total

Unproved oil and gas properties - 34 34

Proved oil and gas properties 303 15,709 16,012

Accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization (50) (10,487) (10,537)

Net capitalized costs 253 5,256 5,509

Group’s share of “equity method” affiliates’ net capitalized costs 189 351 540

Net capitalized costs 442 5,607 6,049

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ON OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION

ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED)

(Millions of US dollars, except as indicated)
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II. Costs incurred in oil and gas property acquisition, exploration, and development activities

Year ended December 31, 2000 International Russia Total

Acquisition of properties - proved - 631 631

Acquisition of properties - unproved - 32 32

Exploration costs 18 112 130

Development costs 279 536 815

Group’s share of “equity method” affiliates’ costs of property acquisition, 
exploration and development 35 34 69

Total costs incurred 332 1,345 1,677

Year ended December 31, 1999 International Russia Total

Acquisition of properties - proved - 943 943

Acquisition of properties - unproved - 2 2

Exploration costs - 61 61

Development costs 56 271 327

Group’s share of “equity method” affiliates’ costs of property acquisition, 
exploration and development 40 24 64

Total costs incurred 96 1,301 1,397

Year ended December 31, 1998 International Russia Total

Exploration costs - 51 51

Development costs 186 404 590

Group’s share of “equity method” affiliates’ costs of property acquisition, 
exploration and development 14 46 60

Total costs incurred 200 501 701

III. Results of operations for producing activities

Year ended December 31, 2000 International Russia Total

Revenue

Sales 284 6,531 6,815

Transfers - 2,429 2,429

284 8,960 9,244

Production costs (excluding production taxes) 30 1,199 1,229

Exploratory expense 18 112 130

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 48 563 611

Taxes other then income 2 674 676

Related income taxes 47 1,914 1,961

Results of operations from producing activities 
(excluding corporate overhead and interest costs) 139 4,498 4,637

Group’s share of “equity method” affiliates’ results of operations 
for producing activities 37 43 80

Total results of operations for producing activities 176 4,541 4,717
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Year ended December 31, 1999 International Russia Total

Revenue

Sales 71 3,755 3,826

Transfers - 528 528

71 4,283 4,354

Production costs (excluding production taxes) 26 651 677

Exploratory expense - 61 61

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 51 420 471

Taxes other then income 1 448 449

Related income taxes 3 980 983

Results of operations from producing activities 

(excluding corporate overhead and interest costs) (10) 1,723 1,713

Group’s share of “equity method” affiliates’ results of operations 
for producing activities 3 135 138

Total results of operations for producing activities (7) 1,858 1,851

Year ended December 31, 1998 International Russia Total

Revenue

Sales 29 2,505 2,534

Transfers - 592 592

29 3,097 3,126

Production costs (excluding production taxes) 13 1,273 1,286

Exploratory expense - 51 51

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 1 482 483

Taxes other than income 1 388 389

Related income taxes 5 316 321

Results of operations from producing activities 

(excluding corporate overhead and interest costs) 9 587 596

Group’s share of “equity method” affiliates’ results of operations 
for producing activities (48) 54 6

Total results of operations for producing activities (39) 641 602

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ON OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED))

Proved reserves are the estimated quantities of oil and gas

reserves which geological and engineering data 

demonstrate will be recoverable with reasonable 

certainty in future years from known reservoirs under

existing economic and operating conditions.  Proved

reserves do not include additional quantities of oil and

gas reserves recoverable beyond the term of the lease or

concession agreement which may result from extensions

of currently proved areas or from applying secondary or

tertiary recovery processes not yet tested and determined

to be economic.

Proved developed reserves are the quantities of reserves

expected to be recovered through existing wells with 

existing equipment and operating methods.

Due to the inherent uncertainties and the necessarily limited

nature of reservoir data, estimates of reserves are subject to

change as additional information becomes available.

Group companies’ estimated net proved oil and gas reserves

and changes thereto for the years 2000, 1999 and 1998 are

shown in the table set out below. 

IV. Reserve quantity information
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International Russia Total

Proved Reserves: Millions Millions Millions Millions Millions Millions 

of barrels of tonnes of barrels of tonnes of barrels of tonnes

Oil equivalent

January 1, 1998 131 18 10,697 1,459 10,828 1,477

Revisions of previous estimates - - (301) (41) (301) (41)

Purchase of hydrocarbons in place 249 34 7 1 256 35

Extensions and discoveries - - 291 40 291 40

Production (4) (1) (452) (62) (456) (63)

December 31, 1998 376 51 10,242 1,397 10,618 1,448

Revisions of previous estimates - - 1,026 140 1,026 140

Purchase of hydrocarbons in place - - 1,314 179 1,314 179

Extensions and discoveries - - 187 26 187 26

Production (7) (1) (472) (64) (479) (65)

Sales of reserves - - (197) (27) (197) (27)

December 31, 1999 369 50 12,100 1,651 12,469 1,701

Revisions of previous estimates 277 38 (671) (92) (394) (54)

Purchase of hydrocarbons in place - - 1,167 159 1,167 159

Extensions and discoveries 26 4 302 41 328 45

Production (14) (2) (515) (70) (529) (72)

Sales of reserves - - (21) (3) (21) (3)

December 31, 2000 658 90 12,362 1,686 13,020 1,776

Group’s share of the reserves of affiliates, accounted 

for using  the “equity method” as at December 31, 1998 179 24 427 58 606 82

Group’s share in the reserves of affiliates, accounted for 

using the “equity method” as at December 31, 1999 179 24 797 109 976 133

Group’s share in the reserves of affiliates, accounted for 

using the “equity method” as at December 31, 2000 184 25 295 40 479 65

Minority’s share, included in the above proved reserves 

as at December 31, 1998 - - 53 7 53 7

Minority’s share, included in the above proved reserves 

as at December 31, 1999 - - 41 6 41 6

Minority’s share, included in the above proved reserves 

as at December 31, 2000 - - 568 77 568 77

Proved reserves, adjusted for minority interests:

December 31, 1998 555 75 10,616 1,448 11,171 1,523

December 31, 1999 548 74 12,856 1,754 13,404 1,828

December 31, 2000 842 115 12,089 1,649 12,931 1,764

Proved developed reserves, adjusted for minority interests:

December 31, 1998 80 11 6,398 873 6,478 884

December 31, 1999 79 11 7,894 1,077 7,973 1,088

December 31, 2000 196 27 8,417 1,148 8,613 1,175
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The standardized measure of discounted future net cash

flows, related to the above oil and gas reserves, is calculat-

ed in accordance with the requirements of SFAS No. 69.

Estimated future cash inflows from production are com-

puted by applying year-end prices for oil and gas to year-

end quantities of estimated net proved reserves.

Adjustment in this calculation for future price changes is

limited to those required  by contractual arrangements in

existence at the end of each reporting year.  Future devel-

opment and production costs are those estimated future

expenditures necessary to develop and produce year-end

estimated proved reserves based on year-end cost indices,

assuming continuation of year-end economic conditions.

Estimated future income taxes are calculated by applying

appropriate year-end statutory tax rates.  These rates reflect

allowable deductions and tax credits and are applied to

estimated future pre-tax net cash flows, less the tax bases

of related assets.  Discounted future net cash flows have

been calculated using a ten percent discount factor.

Discounting requires a year-by-year estimate of when

future expenditures will be incurred and when reserves will

be produced.

The information provided in the tables set out below does

not represent management’s estimate of the Group’s

expected future cash flows or of the value of the Group’s

proved oil and gas reserves.  Estimates of proved reserve

quantities are imprecise and change over time as new infor-

mation becomes available. Moreover, probable and possible

reserves, which may become proved in the future, are

excluded from the calculations.  The arbitrary valuation pre-

scribed under SFAS No. 69 requires assumptions as to the

timing and amount of future development and production

costs.  The calculations should not be relied upon as an indi-

cation of the Group’s future cash flows or of the value of its

oil and gas reserves.

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ON OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED))

V. Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows

As of December 31, 2000 International Russia Total

Future cash inflows 6,378 170,534 176,912

Future production and development costs (2,276) (90,698) (92,974)

Future income tax expenses (1,156) (27,020) (28,176)

Future net cash flows 2,946 52,816 55,762

Discount for estimated timing of cash flows (10% p.a.) (2,064) (33,463) (35,527)

Discounted future net cash flows 882 19,353 20,235

Group’s share of “equity method” affiliates’ standardized measure 

of discounted future net cash flows 597 638 1,235

Minority share in discounted future net cash flows - 921 921

As of December 31, 1999 International Russia Total

Future cash inflows 5,556 148,295 153,851

Future production and development costs (3,376) (63,950) (67,326)

Future income tax expenses (826) (25,147) (25,973)

Future net cash flows 1,354 59,198 60,552

Discount for estimated timing of cash flows (10% p.a.) (1,046) (37,752) (38,798)

Discounted future net cash flows 308 21,446 21,754

Group’s share of “equity method” affiliates’ standardized measure of discounted 

future net cash flows 534 1,536 2,070

Minority share in discounted future net cash flows - 55 55
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VI. Principal sources of changes in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows

2000 1999 1998

Discounted present value as at January 1 21,754 4,072 10,870

Purchase of oil and gas reserves 2,788 3,276 147

Sales and transfers of oil and gas produced, net of production costs (7,280) (3,185) (1,436)

Net changes in prices and production costs estimates 608 20,649 (12,024)

Extensions, discoveries, and improved recovery, less related costs 797 467 168

Development costs incurred during the period 458 255 1,156

Revisions of previous quantity estimates (952) 2,559 (173)

Net change in income taxes (1,403) (7,286) 3,211

Other changes 435 301 301

Accretion of discount 3,030 646 1,852

Discounted present value at December 31 20,235 21,754 4,072


